Response plan to *pfhrp2* gene deletions

Second edition





Response plan to *pfhrp2* gene deletions

Second edition



Response plan to *pfhrp2* gene deletions, second edition

ISBN 978-92-4-010183-8 (electronic version) ISBN 978-92-4-010184-5 (print version)

© World Health Organization 2024

Some rights reserved. This work is available under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-ShareAlike 3.0 IGO licence (CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO; https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-sa/3.0/igo).

Under the terms of this licence, you may copy, redistribute and adapt the work for non-commercial purposes, provided the work is appropriately cited, as indicated below. In any use of this work, there should be no suggestion that WHO endorses any specific organization, products or services. The use of the WHO logo is not permitted. If you adapt the work, then you must license your work under the same or equivalent Creative Commons licence. If you create a translation of this work, you should add the following disclaimer along with the suggested citation: "This translation was not created by the World Health Organization (WHO). WHO is not responsible for the content or accuracy of this translation. The original English edition shall be the binding and authentic edition".

Any mediation relating to disputes arising under the licence shall be conducted in accordance with the mediation rules of the World Intellectual Property Organization (http://www.wipo.int/amc/en/mediation/rules/).

Suggested citation. Response plan to *pfhrp2* gene deletions, second edition. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2024. Licence: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO.

Cataloguing-in-Publication (CIP) data. CIP data are available at https://iris.who.int/.

Sales, rights and licensing. To purchase WHO publications, see https://www.who.int/publications/book-orders. To submit requests for commercial use and queries on rights and licensing, see https://www.who.int/copyright.

Third-party materials. If you wish to reuse material from this work that is attributed to a third party, such as tables, figures or images, it is your responsibility to determine whether permission is needed for that reuse and to obtain permission from the copyright holder. The risk of claims resulting from infringement of any third-party-owned component in the work rests solely with the user.

General disclaimers. The designations employed and the presentation of the material in this publication do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of WHO concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries. Dotted and dashed lines on maps represent approximate border lines for which there may not yet be full agreement.

The mention of specific companies or of certain manufacturers' products does not imply that they are endorsed or recommended by WHO in preference to others of a similar nature that are not mentioned. Errors and omissions excepted, the names of proprietary products are distinguished by initial capital letters.

All reasonable precautions have been taken by WHO to verify the information contained in this publication. However, the published material is being distributed without warranty of any kind, either expressed or implied. The responsibility for the interpretation and use of the material lies with the reader. In no event shall WHO be liable for damages arising from its use.

Contents

Acknowledgements	V
Abbreviations	vi
1. Introduction and objectives	1
2. Defining the issue	2
2.1 RDTs in malaria control	2
2.2 How RDTs work	5
2.3 Quality assurance	7
2.4 Evolution of <i>pfhrp2/3</i> -deleted variants	8
3. Response to the diagnostic threat	12
3.1 Pragmatic action by NMPs	12
3.1.1 Investigating suspected false-negative RDT results for <i>pfhrp2/3</i> -deleted variants	13
3.1.2 National assessment of the prevalence of false-negative RDT results caused by <i>pfhrp2/3</i> -deleted variants	14
3.1.3 Response to survey outcome: > 5% false-negative RDT results caused by <i>pfhrp2/3</i> deletions	15
3.2 Strengthened and expanded laboratory networks	20
3.3 New research	23
3.3.1 Molecular function of HRP2 and HPR3	23
3.3.2 Transmissibility of <i>pfhrp2/3</i> -deleted parasites	23
3.3.3 Deteminants of spread of <i>pfhrp2/3</i> -deleted parasites	24
3.3.4 Detection and surveillance of <i>pthrp2/3</i> -deleted parasites	24
3.4 Diagnostics research and development	27
3.4.1 Alternative biomarkers of <i>P. falciparum</i> malaria	27
3.4.2 Optimization of RDIs targeting Pt-LDH	28
3.5 Modelling for future planning	29
3.5.1 Global risk of selection using an interactive <i>pfhrp2/3</i> risk explorer	29
3.5.2 Market size projections	32
3.6 Coordination of response	34
4. Conclusions	35
References	37

Tables

Table 1. Plasmodium antigens targeted by antibodies used in malaria RDTs	6
Table 2. Alternative testing options for areas with a > 5% prevalenceof false-negative RDT results caused by <i>pfhrp2/3</i> deletions	17
Table 3. Available non-WHO-prequalified tests meeting critical criteria	18
Table 4. Causes of false-negative RDT results and investigative actions	21
Table 5. List of international laboratories participating in the WHO referencelaboratory network supporting <i>pfhrp2/3</i> deletion surveillance	22
Table 6. Key drivers of <i>pfhrp2/3</i> selection and their impact on the speed of selection	31

Figures

Fig. 1. Data from manufacturers and NMPs on the volumes and types of RDTs delivered worldwide, 2010–2022	4
Fig. 2. Immunological reaction on a positive RDT strip (example: <i>P. vivax</i> infection)	5
Fig. 3. Distribution of reported <i>pfhrp2/3</i> gene deletions – Malaria Threats Map	9
Fig. 4. Predicted areas of concern from the spread of <i>pfhrp2/3</i> deletions	29
Fig. 5. Demand forecast for alternative RDTs by country and by year	33

Boxes

Box 1.	Quality assurance for malaria RDTs	3
Box 2.	Limitations of alternative survey approaches for the assessment of national prevalence of false-negative RDT results caused by <i>pfhrp2/3</i> deletions	14
Box 3.	Factors affecting the performance of Pf-LDH combination RDTs against <i>pfhrp2/3</i> -deleted parasites	19

Acknowledgements

The World Health Organization (WHO) would like to thank all the experts who contributed to the second edition of the response plan to *pfhrp2* gene deletions, which was first published in 2019.

The updated response plan was compiled by Jane Cunningham (WHO Global Malaria Programme), Andrea Bosman (WHO Global Malaria Programme), Rebecca Thomson (Independent Consultant), Qin Cheng (Australian Defense Force Malaria and Infectious Disease Institute, Australia) and Venkatachalam Udhayakumar (Independent Consultant), based on the output of a technical consultation held in January 2023. WHO would like to thank the expert panel of researchers who provided their expertise in various aspects of *pfhrp2/3* surveillance and analysis to discuss recent developments in relation to the epidemiology of *pfhrp2/3* deletions, available diagnostics and new research.

WHO is particularly grateful to Oliver Watson (Imperial College London, United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland) and Theodor Visser (Clinton Health Access Initiative, United States of America) for designing models and for authoring new sections on modelling the spread of *pfhrp2/3* gene deletions and market size projections for rapid diagnostic tests, respectively.

In addition, WHO would like to thank the following experts who also participated in the technical consultation and provided invaluable input in the review of the response plan: Alexander Asamoah (National Malaria Elimination Program, Ghana), Khalid Beshir (London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland), Praveen K Bharti (ICMR – National Institute of Malaria Research, India), Anderson Chinorumba (Independent Consultant), Gonzalo Domingo (PATH, United States of America), Michelle Gatton (Queensland University of Technology, Australia), Dionicia Gamboa Vilela (Universidad Peruana Cayetano Heredia, Peru), Fitsum Girma Tadesse (Armauer Hansen Research Institute, Ethiopia), Angela Patricia Guerra Vega (Instituto Nacional de Salud, Colombia), Deus Ishengoma (National Institute for Medical Research, United Republic of Tanzania), Cristian Koepfli (University of Notre Dame, United States of America), Roberto Montoya (WHO Regional Office for the Americas), Daouda Ndiaye (Université Cheikh Anta Diop de Dakar, Senegal), Anne-Laure Page (WHO Prequalification of In Vitro Diagnostics), Jonathan Parr (University of North Carolina, United States of America), Eric Rogier (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, United States of America), Hannah Slater (PATH, United States of America), Robert Verity (Imperial College London, United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland) and Ghasem Zamani (WHO Regional Office for the Eastern Mediterranean).

Funding for the production of this report was gratefully received from the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation.

Abbreviations

ACT	artemisinin-based combination therapy
CHAI	Clinton Health Access Initiative
COVID-19	coronavirus disease
DHS	Demographic and Health Survey
ELISA	enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
HRP2	histidine-rich protein 2
HRP3	histidine-rich protein 3
LDH	lactate dehydrogenase
MIS	Malaria Indicator Survey
NAAT EQA	nucleic acid amplification testing external quality assurance
NMP	national malaria programme
PCR	polymerase chain reaction
pfhrp2	Plasmodium falciparum histidine-rich protein 2
pfhrp3	Plasmodium falciparum histidine-rich protein 3
RDT	rapid diagnostic test
WGS	whole genome sequencing
WHO	World Health Organization

1. Introduction and objectives

Accurate, timely diagnosis of malaria is critical to case management and is a key element in national and global malaria control and strategies for elimination. Malaria microscopy, the traditional diagnostic approach, is difficult to implement in the decentralized settings where most malaria occurs. Therefore, the advent of disposable lateral-flow immunoassays for malaria (widely known as rapid diagnostic tests (RDTs)) has been fundamentally important to modern malaria management, enabling targeted therapy, reducing drug wastage and limiting pressure for the development of drug resistance. Malaria RDTs are available from many manufacturers in various conformations. Ensuring the safety and quality of the RDTs used in malaria control and case management has been a major focus of the World Health Organization (WHO) and its partners.

The clinically relevant RDTs for malaria diagnosis detect parasite proteins circulating in the blood. Some are configured to detect only *Plasmodium falciparum*, whereas others detect other *Plasmodium* species. The tests that are most sensitive in diagnosing falciparum malaria contain antibodies to detect histidine-rich protein 2 (HRP2) and/or the related histidine-rich protein 3 (HRP3). These protein targets, which are specific to *P. falciparum*, are strongly expressed by asexual parasites and have multiple copies of the target epitopes per protein. Some 15 years ago, researchers working in the Peruvian Amazon region identified patients infected with *P. falciparum* strains that had acquired deletions in the genes that encode these proteins (*pfhrp2* and *pfhrp3*), rendering these parasites undetectable by HRP2-based RDTs. Since then, many studies have demonstrated the presence of such gene-deleted strains in other countries and regions (1). The frequency and global distribution of this phenomenon is not yet fully understood, but, in a limited number of countries, the relative incidence of these deleted mutants has been found to be high enough to threaten the usefulness of HRP2-only RDTs.

This updated response plan to gene deletions that limit the effectiveness of HRP2-based RDTs provides a framework intended to support national malaria programmes (NMPs) and their implementing partners to address this problem pragmatically. The original document has been updated to summarize current knowledge and critical gaps in knowledge to guide future research and product development. The four objectives of an implemented response plan are as follows:

- 1. Define the frequency and distribution of *pfhrp2/3* deletions causing falsenegative RDT results in circulating *P. falciparum* parasites.
- 2. Provide concrete guidance to countries on malaria diagnosis and treatment in settings where such deletions are found to be frequent.
- 3. Identify gaps in knowledge about the genesis and spread of strains with *pfhrp2* and/or *pfhrp3* deletions and the actions required to develop new, accurate tests for malaria based on alternative target antigens.
- 4. Coordinate advocacy and communication with donors, policy-makers, test developers, research agencies, technical partners and disease control programmes to assist in planning.

Two new sections have been added to this updated version of the response plan: modelling the spread of *pfhrp2/3* gene deletions and development of an interactive map, and market size projections for RDTs.

2. Defining the issue

2.1 RDTs in malaria control

Malaria remains a huge global health risk, causing an estimated 249 million cases of febrile disease (range, 225–278 million) and 608 000 deaths in 2022 (2). The greatest burden of malarial disease is in sub-Saharan Africa, where approximately 90% of all malaria cases and malaria deaths occur (2). Nevertheless, impressive progress has recently been made in the control of malaria worldwide. Between 2000 and 2015 alone, the incidence of malaria cases was reduced by 41% (3). Recent studies have demonstrated that, even in African countries with endemic malaria, the great majority of cases of febrile illness are not due to malaria (4). Despite this progress in malaria control, recent events, including the coronavirus disease (COVID-19) pandemic, have led to some increases in malaria cases and deaths, as outlined in the *World malaria report* 2023 (2).

Malaria does not usually present with distinct physical signs that would enable accurate clinical diagnosis. Furthermore, as the incidence of malaria drops, confirmatory testing before treatment becomes essential to prevent unnecessary treatment and reduce drug resistance. Timely, accurate diagnostic testing is the cornerstone of modern malaria control, and, since 2010, the WHO treatment guidelines have included the recommendation for all cases of suspected malaria to be tested by microscopy or an RDT (5). The benefits of diagnostic testing extend beyond malaria case management. As stated in the WHO *Global technical strategy for malaria 2016–2030 (6)*, "Expansion of diagnostic testing will provide timely and accurate surveillance data based on confirmed rather than suspected cases". Additionally, it will lead to improved identification and management of the many non-malarial febrile illnesses presumed to be malaria solely on the basis of the presence of fever.

As malaria microscopy is not always feasible in primary care settings, and as its quality is not always guaranteed, the development of malaria RDTs based on lateral flow has been critical to current strategies for malaria control. Indeed, RDTs for malaria are one of the most successful diagnostic products in global health. With a disposable cassette to detect parasite antigens in finger-stick blood samples, they offer simple, unambiguous detection of malarial infection, enabling disease confirmation prior to treatment at the primary care level. First developed in the early 1990s, malaria RDTs were initially used very little, despite published reports of good performance (7). By 2002, nearly 10 million tests were being produced each year by about 24 manufacturers. In view of variations in the manufacture of RDTs and in published results, WHO and partners began a quality assurance programme to ensure procurement of high-quality tests (Box 1). Once quality assurance was in place, donors and policy-makers were confident in extending the use of RDTs for confirmatory testing.

Box 1. Quality assurance for malaria RDTs

Variation in the manufacture of RDTs, between both companies and manufacturing lots, can significantly affect their performance. In view of the large number of RDTs commercially available and the relative weakness of many national regulatory systems, WHO, FIND, the United States Centers for Disease Control and Prevention and other partners instituted a quality assurance programme, which functioned between 2008 and 2018. The programme had three main elements: product testing to verify performance against a standardized panel of blood samples, lot testing to ensure that each procured lot had maintained its specified criteria before distribution, and job aids and training materials for health workers and trainers to support proper use.

Between 2007 and 2017, all companies manufacturing malaria RDTs in conformity with the ISO 13485:2003 standard were invited to submit RDTs for testing against a large bank of geographically diverse clinical specimens and cultured parasites, in order to determine the RDTs' performance in detecting 200 or 2000 parasites/ μ L. The WHO and FIND malaria RDT product testing programme established performance parameters (e.g. panel detection score, false positivity, invalid rate, stability, ease of use) and evaluated 332 new or newly submitted products. For a decade, the results of product testing formed the basis of the procurement criteria implemented by WHO, other United Nations agencies, the Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria, national governments and nongovernmental organizations. The results have shifted markets towards better performing tests and resulted in overall improvement in test quality (8).

Since 1 January 2018, WHO has required WHO prequalification for all malaria RDTs for procurement. All products that are WHO-prequalified meet the required minimum performance criteria and are considered acceptable for procurement and for diagnosis of clinical malaria. WHO prequalification is dependent on the attainment of performance criteria, successful dossier review and inspection of the manufacturing site.

Similarly, between 2007 and 2017, WHO and FIND supported two lot-testing sites – at the Research Institute for Tropical Medicine in the Philippines and the Pasteur Institute of Cambodia – to evaluate procured lots before their distribution for use to ensure that each lot had not degraded and its performance was that determined during product testing. Currently, WHO supports lot-testing services free of charge at the Research Institute for Tropical Medicine in the Philippines. Capacity to meet national lot-testing needs has also been developed at the ANDI Centre of Excellence for Malaria Diagnosis, University of Lagos, Nigeria, and at the National Institute of Malaria Research, India. These laboratories conduct lot verification for RDT batches imported into their respective countries and should be contacted for information regarding their ongoing compliance with WHO procedures and availability of lot-testing services.

As shown in Fig. 1, the manufacture and sales of RDTs exceeded 400 million tests per year by 2020. The differences between the data from manufacturers and the data from NMPs shown in Fig. 1 are probably due to the inclusion of private-sector sales in the information supplied by manufacturers and incomplete reporting by some NMPs. RDT use in Africa accounts for the vast majority of NMP deliveries, and, as seen from the manufacturers' data, *P. falciparum*-only tests based on HRP2 detection are predominant.

Fig. 1. Data from manufacturers and NMPs on the volumes and types of RDTs delivered worldwide, 2010–2022



a NMP distributions do not reflect RDTs that are still in storage and are yet to be delivered to health facilities and to community health workers.

Sources: NMP reports and sales data from manufacturers eligible for the WHO Malaria RDT Product Testing Programme.

The advent of RDTs and their widespread use, spurred on by WHO policy and now adopted in the public sector by all 86 countries with continuous malaria transmission, has massively increased the proportion of suspected cases of malaria confirmed prior to treatment. In 2022, manufacturers reported about 415.5 million RDT sales. NMPs distributed 345 million RDTs in 2022. Such diagnostic expansion has averted millions of cases of mistreatment and overtreatment, helped thousands of clinicians working in malaria-prone areas to understand that fever does not necessarily signify malaria, and provided a much clearer understanding of the current epidemiology of malaria during the drive towards its elimination. Along with the expansion of sales, access to such testing has improved; by 2015, some 80% of all suspected malaria cases attending public health facilities worldwide underwent confirmatory testing instead of receiving a syndromic diagnosis (3). However, the rates of diagnostic testing vary by geographical area and are lowest for febrile children in Africa. Specifically, the proportion of children under 5 years of age who received a diagnosis with a finger or heel prick increased from a median of 30% (12.2% to 38.4%) at baseline to 54% (40.7% to 63.8%) in the latest household surveys in Africa (2). In addition, RDT sales are similar to sales of artemisininbased combination therapies (ACTs), which indicates that there is significant scope for increasing the total number of RDTs used.

Δ

2.2 How RDTs work

RDTs are lateral-flow immunoassays that enable visualization of specific antigenantibody recognition events. In routine use, a specified amount of finger-stick blood is transferred to one end of the RDT, the sample pad, which is loaded with reagents that lyse the blood cells to release any malaria antigens present and allow binding of monoclonal antibodies labelled with colloidal gold or another visible colorimetric indicator. The addition of a liquid buffer helps the blood wick up through the nitrocellulose membrane towards an absorbent pad. On the way, it crosses one or more test lines on the strip, where immobilized monoclonal antibodies can bind to exposed epitopes on *Plasmodium* proteins (*P. vivax* in Fig. 2) (*9*). In addition to test lines, which darken when malarial proteins are bound and detected, there is also a control line, which ensures that the sample pad reagents have liquified and wicked appropriately up the RDT membrane. As each test may have a slightly different configuration and may require different handling (e.g. amount of buffer to be added, time until results), the instructions accompanying the tests must be followed closely.



Fig. 2. Immunological reaction on a positive RDT strip (example: *P. vivax* infection)

Source: New perspectives: malaria diagnosis: report of a joint WHO/USAID informal consultation, 25–27 October 1999 (9)

There are a number of *Plasmodium* antigens that can be targeted by malaria RDTs (see Table 1). Because of the wide prevalence and medical importance of falciparum malaria, almost all RDTs contain antibodies that detect *P. falciparum* proteins (pan-pLDH, Pf-LDH or HRP2).

Target antigen	Full antigen name	Selectivity of assay	Characteristics
HRP2	Histidine-rich protein 2	Detects <i>P. falciparum</i> only	Water-soluble, non-essential protein of unclear function that is abundantly produced by all asexual stages and young gametocytes and contains repeating epitopes. Persists in serum for days to weeks after successful treatment. The crossreactive antigen HRP3 is also produced by <i>P. falciparum</i> and this antigen can also contribute to positive reactivity.
Pf-LDH	<i>P. falciparum</i> parasite lactate dehydrogenase	Detects <i>P. falciparum</i> only	Soluble glycolytic enzyme produced by trophozoites and gametocytes. Blood levels decline rapidly during therapy.
Pv-LDH	<i>P. vivax</i> parasite lactate dehydrogenase	Detects <i>P. vivax</i> only	
Pvom-LDH	Parasite lactate dehydrogenase from P. vivax, P. ovale and P. malariae	Detects P. vivax, P. ovale and P. malariae	
Pan-pLDH	<i>Plasmodium</i> parasite lactate dehydrogenase	Detects all <i>Plasmodium</i> spp. that infect humans	
Aldolase	Plasmodium aldolase	Detects all <i>Plasmodium</i> spp. that infect humans	Key enzyme in the glycolysis pathway, with relatively conserved amino acid sequences. There is relatively rapid clearance after therapy.

Table 1. Plasmodium antigens targeted by antibodies used in malaria RDTs

A number of factors are usually taken into consideration when selecting an antigen:

- Tests for HRP2 are often more sensitive than pLDH assays in terms of both the ability to detect smaller concentrations of protein and the clinical limit of detection (measured as parasites per microlitre) (10).
- HRP2-based RDTs tend to be more heat-stable.
- pLDH assays more accurately identify acute infection, as the target pLDH enzyme concentration falls quickly following parasite clearance with treatment, whereas HRPs may persist for weeks after treatment.
- Aldolase assays tend to be the least sensitive of the current RDTs.

The sensitivity of a given RDT depends on several factors, including the accuracy of testing procedures, the antigen concentration and other characteristics of the blood sample, the age and storage conditions of the test, and the specificities of its manufacture, such as the selection of capture and detection antibodies, type of nitrocellulose, label and buffer conditions. False-negative results may be due to low parasite density (11), incorrect interpretation of results, poor quality and degradation of tests, procedures not followed correctly, gene deletion of the parasite target protein (e.g. *pfhrp2*) or a prozone effect (12).

2.3 Quality assurance

Approximately 80% of suspected cases of malaria presenting for care in public-sector facilities in Africa are tested, and RDTs accounted for 74% of malaria testing in 2015 (3). In 2014, the procurement of malaria RDTs represented an investment of US\$ 103 million by multilateral and bilateral donors (13). Anything that could compromise the utility of malaria testing or the accuracy of test procurement of malaria RDTs threatens the current investment of US\$ 151 million annually by multilateral and bilateral agencies and the benefits of testing. RDTs that perform poorly have been excluded from the public market, likely through the influence of the WHO and FIND-sponsored large quality control programme for RDT products before (with comparative testing) procurement (see Box 1). Over the past several years, more RDT products have met the requirements of WHO prequalification (14). Proper clinical testing with RDTs, including storage, training, procedural correctness, accuracy of recording results and adherence to results, remains a concern in many settings.

Currently, WHO recommends that all RDTs procured be WHO-prequalified. A full list can be found on the WHO prequalification page related to prequalified in vitro diagnostic products (14). All products that are WHO-prequalified meet the required minimum performance criteria and are considered acceptable for procurement and for diagnosis of clinical malaria. Products that exceed these minimum performance criteria are not expected to have any significant clinical benefit over those that just meet these criteria. There is a public report available for all WHO-prequalified malaria RDTs that summarizes the assessment carried out and any inspection of the manufacturing site(s) where the product is manufactured (15). There are currently no criteria for prequalification based on non-HRP2-expressing strains of *P. falciparum*; however, *pfhrp2*-deleted panels may be included in the prequalification process in the future to enable determination of performance against non-HRP2-expressing strains.

If no appropriate WHO-prequalified test is available to meet procurement needs (or the choice is very limited), i.e. in settings with a high prevalence (> 5%) of false-negative HRP2 RDT results caused by *pfhrp2/3* gene deletions, all procured RDTs should meet the following minimum requirements:

- The product should be ISO 13485 certified.
- The product should be in the WHO prequalification pipeline and should have passed the laboratory evaluation achieving:
 - o at least a 75% "panel detection score"¹ for low parasite density samples (200 parasites/µL) from the product testing evaluation panel for the detection of *P. falciparum* (HRP2-expressing and non-HRP2-expressing panels) and, if applicable, for *P. vivax*;
 - o a false-positive rate of less than 10%; and
 - o fewer than 5% invalid tests.

¹ The panel detection score is not the same as "sensitivity", which is measured in a real population in which there is a variable mix of high- and low-density infections. Rather, the panel detection score at 200 parasites/µL reflects how the test can be expected to perform when challenged at the lower limits of clinically significant parasitaemia.

2.4 Evolution of pfhrp2/3-deleted variants

In 2010, researchers who were characterizing malarial blood samples from the Amazon basin in Peru as part of the WHO product testing programme found that HRP2 was not detectable in the blood of some patients with *P. falciparum* infections that had been confirmed by microscopy *(16)*. Molecular testing by polymerase chain reaction (PCR) and antigen testing by enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) confirmed that the genes encoding this protein (and sometimes those encoding the structural homologue HRP3) were deleted from the parasite.

These gene deletions led to false-negative results in the RDTs targeting this protein, raising the fear that, if this anomaly occurred in other countries, many *P. falciparum* infections would go undiagnosed and untreated. Subsequent analyses at other sites in the Loreto region of the Peruvian Amazon showed a significant increase in the frequency of parasites with gene deletions from specimens collected in 1998–2001 (20.7%) to those collected in 2003–2005 (40.6%) *(17)*.

In a global survey of HRP2 sequence variation in 458 samples collected in 38 countries under the WHO and FIND RDT evaluation programme (Box 1) in 2008–2009 (18), substantial diversity was found in *pfhrp2/3* sequences, including in the number and type of repeating epitopes; however, no samples with *pfhrp2/3* deletions were found. Sequence variation did not substantially alter the sensitivity of RDTs to detect parasitaemia at a clinically important level (> 200 parasites/µL).

In a more recent global survey (19), pfhrp2 and pfhrp3 exons from 2671 blood samples collected from patients with *P. falciparum* infection were sequenced in the MalariaGEN *P. falciparum* Community Project. This project is building a catalogue of variants and allele frequencies to characterize common genetic variations in *P. falciparum*. Thirty-two investigators contributed samples to the project from symptomatic and asymptomatic patients in 29 countries. Strong evidence of pfhrp2 deletions was found in 0.6% of all samples and identified in two of the 29 countries.

The frequency of *pfhrp2* deletions in tested samples was 38% in Peru and 4% in the Papua region of Indonesia. Deletions of *pfhrp3* were more common, with an overall frequency of 2.4% identified in eight countries; there were four countries in which more than 5% of samples contained deletions. Dual mutations were found only in Peru. Deletion of both genes occurred in multiple genetic backgrounds. An earlier independent analysis of the global survey also found similar frequencies of *pfhrp2* and *pfhrp3* deletions: 0.5% and 1.4%, respectively (20). However, these study findings may not be a true representation of gene deletions in these countries, as original sample collection was not designed to address *pfhrp2* and *pfhrp3* deletions as recommended by WHO and included only a limited number of samples from many countries. Nevertheless, when this type of survey confirms the presence of *pfhrp2* deletions, it should trigger a baseline survey in the country and in neighbouring countries.

A review of published reports (years 2010 to 2019) found 51 studies from 36 journal publications with data from 29 countries confirming the presence of *P. falciparum* malaria strains with mutations affecting the production of HRP2 and/or HRP3 proteins (hereafter called *pfhrp2/3*-deleted variants) in many regions that are endemic for malaria, in some cases at a prevalence that would significantly reduce the effectiveness of RDTs that test for this antigen to detect falciparum malaria (1). Fig. 3 shows the geographical distribution of reported *pfhrp2/3*-deleted variants. Based on all data from publications included in the Malaria Threats Map (21), as of January 2024, some form of investigation for *pfhrp2/3* deletions has been conducted in 55 countries, and the presence of deletions has been confirmed in 45. The red dots represent the location of samples reported to have *pfhrp2* deletions. Parasites that fail to express pLDH or aldolase antigens, which are enzymes critical to parasite survival, have not been reported.

Fig. 3. Distribution of reported *pfhrp2/3* gene deletions – Malaria Threats Map, as of May 2024



Source: WHO Malaria Threats Map (21)

Because of the large methodological differences between studies, especially in the selection of participants and/or selection of samples for analysis, only broad conclusions can be drawn.

- There are clear local "hot spots" where *pfhrp2/3*-deleted variants are common enough to make diagnostic testing based only on HRP2 inadequate. Specifically, relatively high rates of *pfhrp2/3* deletions have been seen in the Amazonian regions of Brazil (22), Colombia (23) and Peru (16, 17, 24, 25), and on the African continent in Djibouti (26), Eritrea (27, 28), Ethiopia (29–31) and South Sudan (32) (Fig. 3).
- The prevalence of *P. falciparum* parasites that do not express HRP2 varies by province or area in any given country. For example, the ranges of reported prevalence were 0–25% by study site in India (*33*), 0–53.6% in Colombia (*34*) and 0–21.7% in the Democratic Republic of the Congo (*35*). Similarly, although the presence of *pfhrp2/3*-deleted variants in a neighbouring country presents a risk factor, it does not guarantee local circulation of such strains (*36, 37*).
- *pfhrp2/3*-deleted variants can cause epidemics, especially in low transmission regions, which may be missed by HRP2-based RDTs (24).
- In many studies, the methods for selecting samples for molecular analysis have resulted in overestimates of the true prevalence of *pfhrp2/3*-deleted variants. In Rwanda, for example, 23% of *P. falciparum* strains identified by PCR were *pfhrp2*-deleted, but PCR was performed only on samples with false-negative HRP2-based RDTs (*38*). If the samples with HRP2-positive RDT results and no *pfhrp2* gene deletions had also been considered in the analysis (i.e. as part of the denominator), the true prevalence of *pfhrp2* deletions in microscopy-positive falciparum cases would have been around 1%. This type of analytical limitation can be overcome by following the WHO-recommended analysis to estimate the prevalence of *pfhrp2* deletions based on the total population of people with symptomatic falciparum malaria.
- The data illustrated in Fig. 3 may, however, underestimate the prevalence of *pfhrp2*-deleted variants because of the cross-reactivity of HRP2-based RDTs with HRP3. In addition, in areas of moderate to high transmission, the circulation of strains with *pfhrp2* deletions may be masked by coinfection with *P. falciparum* strains without such deletions, as infection with more than one strain type is common in these settings. Masking due to coinfection may occur less frequently at the start or end of the transmission season in settings with seasonal malaria transmission. A modelling study showed that the prevalence of false-negative RDTs caused by *pfhrp2*-deleted parasites varies over the season, especially in moderate to high transmission settings. Therefore, to minimize the bias in estimating the prevalence of *pfhrp2*-deleted parasites, it is important to collect specimens throughout the transmission season (*39*).
- The absence of PCR amplification of *pfhrp2/3* may be attributed to an inadequate quantity of parasite DNA or to PCR procedural issues. In many studies, the DNA extraction and purification methods used have not provided enough amplifiable DNA to detect single-copy genes such as *pfhrp2/3*. Therefore, it is critical to ensure that adequate parasite DNA concentrations are present before making deletion calls based on the successful amplification of two other single-copy genes such as *msp1* and *msp2*. Furthermore, requiring a parasite density of at least 100 parasites/µL decreases the risk of unintentional misclassification of results due to insufficient DNA template concentration. It will be important to report parasite density or parasite genome copy number when real-time PCR is used (40, 41).

• Although longitudinal data are scarce, *pfhrp2* deletions appear to persist over time, even after the pressure of HRP2-based RDTs has been lifted (42, 43). Results from the same geographical area in asymptomatic and symptomatic populations can yield very different findings (35, 44).

WHO tracks and reports surveys of *pfhrp2/3* deletions using an online mapping tool: the Malaria Threats Map (21). To facilitate interpretation of the results, the Malaria Threats Map enables data to be filtered based on the enrolment population (symptomatic vs. asymptomatic) and by single or double deletions of *pfhrp2* and *pfhrp3*. The Malaria Threats Map data are not independently assessed based on the quality of the studies performed; however, a 2020 systematic review (1) provided a laboratory comprehensiveness indicator score on the basis of the clinical and molecular testing information available in the published report. This scoring was adapted from Cheng et al.'s recommendations for standardization of testing and reporting of *pfhrp2/3*-deleted variants (40). Studies were assigned a score of 1 to 7 based on evidence of the following criteria (1 point each):

- evidence of performance of quality-assured microscopy;
- use of an RDT for diagnosis that met WHO performance criteria (p. 13);
- evidence of quantification of parasitaemia by microscopy and/or real-time PCR or qPCR;
- testing for availability of amplifiable DNA using more than one single-copy *P. falciparum* gene;
- evidence of molecular species identification;
- testing for both *pfhrp2* and *pfhrp3* deletions; and
- use of another quality HRP2-based RDT, ELISA or bead-based assay to confirm molecular findings.

The fulfilment of each criterion was given a score of 1, and the study score was the sum of all criteria scores. Overall, the findings suggest that there is much room for improvement, as only three publications (6%) met all the published criteria, and another nine publications (18%) fulfilled six out of the seven criteria.

3. Response to the diagnostic threat

There is now clear evidence from many countries of the emergence of *P. falciparum* strains that cannot be detected with the most common diagnostic tool used in primary care across Africa and beyond. The response plan to *pfhrp2/3* deletions proposes a multifaceted response to this threat that requires:

- pragmatic action by NMPs and their implementing partners;
- strengthened and expanded laboratory networks;
- research to further understand the factors contributing to the development of these *pfhrp2/3*-deleted variants and the global scope of the problem;
- research and development of improved RDTs; and
- a coordinated response by donors and policy-makers to avoid interruption of malaria diagnostic services.

3.1 Pragmatic action by NMPs

Like antimalarial drug resistance, the evolution and circulation of *pfhrp2/3*-deleted variants will threaten malaria control and must be managed. Although there are unanswered questions about the genesis and spread of *pfhrp2/3*-deleted variants, NMPs can act now while further information is being collected. The programmatic management of *pfhrp2/3*-deleted variants described below includes guidance covered in the WHO information note on false-negative results in RDTs, which was published in May 2016 and updated in September 2017 and June 2019 (*45*).

In many areas where malaria has historically been endemic, disease prevalence has fallen, and most of the RDTs used to test febrile individuals give correct negative results. Large studies conducted to follow the outcomes of febrile children with **negative** RDT results (46, 47) found that it was safe not to treat them for malaria; there were no malaria-related deaths or hospitalizations. That being said, in areas where *pfhrp2/3* deletions are found to be prevalent and are likely to cause at least 5% false-negative RDT results, such as in the Horn of Africa and most Amazonian regions of South America, NMPs should switch to RDTs that do not rely solely on HRP2 for detecting *P. falciparum (48)*. Circulation of *pfhrp2/3*-deleted variants is likely to be focal, and the introduction of a new testing strategy may be prioritized in regions or provinces with the highest prevalence of these variants. Data from the prevalence survey recommended below will provide guidance to national programmes on changing their testing methods and the provinces or regions in which to apply the changes first.

In July 2016, WHO convened a meeting of experts to prepare guidance on *pfhrp2/3* deletions and published the outcome as a background document for the September 2016 meeting of the Malaria Policy Advisory Committee (now the Malaria Policy Advisory Group) (49). The group decided that $a \ge 5\%$ local prevalence of false-negative HRP2 RDT results caused by *pfhrp2/3* gene deletions would warrant a change in testing strategy. This cut-off was selected because it reflects the predicted difference in clinical sensitivity between Pf-LDH or pan-pLDH RDTs and HRP2-based RDTs, and therefore indicates when public health gains will be obtained by changing from RDTs that solely detect HRP2 to those that target pLDH antigens (alone or in combination with HRP2). Recently, a systematic analysis of published data related to differences in clinical sensitivity between HRP2-based and Pf-LDH-based RDTs was conducted to determine whether this guidance was still valid. This

investigation confirmed that the commercial Pf-LDH-based tests have lower sensitivity than HRP2-based RDTs. However, the difference varied between studies. In 24 publications from 24 countries including different endemic settings, HRP2-based RDTs or strips were 5.9% more sensitive than Pf-LDH tests, using microscopic data as the gold standard (48).

As this review included studies using only Pf-LDH-based RDTs, it is not known whether similar differences should be expected with pan-pLDH tests. Overall, this review suggests that currently available Pf-LDH tests are at least 5% less sensitive than HRP2-based RDTs, and this level of difference is consistent with the current 5% threshold of false-negative test results for switching to non-HRP2-based RDTs when deletions are confirmed. Recent efforts have led to the development and introduction of new Pf-LDH-based tests that are more sensitive than current Pf-LDH tests, based on their comparative analytical sensitivity (Domingo G, unpublished data, 2022). Three such products have been submitted for WHO pregualification and have passed the independent laboratory evaluation; however, manufacturer site inspection is pending for their final approval. In addition, these products are being evaluated for their clinical sensitivity compared to WHO-pregualified HRP2-based RDTs in different endemic settings in Africa, South America and Asia. When such data become available, their impact on the current threshold (5% prevalence of false-negative RDT results caused by *pfhrp2/3* deletions) may be determined. Furthermore, future modelling based on rigorously collected programme data from the use of new Pf-LDH RDTs may be useful to confirm or refine the current 5% cut-off value.

As outlined in this document, strains carrying *pfhrp2/3* deletions will continue to expand and spread, as observed in recent years in the Horn of Africa. Therefore, it is important to monitor for the presence of *pfhrp2/3* deletions and move away from the use of HRP2-based RDTs when the prevalence of false-negative RDT results caused by *pfhrp2/3* deletions exceeds the 5% threshold set by WHO. All countries should therefore consider planning a gradual transition to tests that do not rely solely on the detection of HRP2. In the interim, NMPs should be prepared to investigate suspected false-negative RDT results due to deletions, introduce surveillance for *pfhrp2/3* deletions and act on the outcomes. Approaches are proposed below.

3.1.1 Investigating suspected false-negative RDT results for *pfhrp2/3*-deleted variants

NMPs and implementing partners in countries in which HRP2-based RDTs are used should support investigation of suspected false-negative RDT results for possible *pfhrp2/3*-deleted variants, considering the common causes of false-negative results, including operator error, false-positive microscopy results, degradation of RDTs during transport or storage, manufacturing error or infections with a low parasite density. *pfhrp2/3* gene deletions should be suspected and the NMP and WHO informed when:

- a patient's sample gives a negative result on the HRP2 test line of at least two quality-assured malaria RDTs and a positive result on the pan- or Pf-LDH line if a combination RDT is used, and positivity for *P. falciparum* is confirmed by two qualified microscopists; or
- the rates of discordance between RDT and microscopy results in the programme are systematically ≥ 10–15%, with higher positivity rates with microscopy, and quality is controlled routinely by cross-checking or both tests are performed for the same individuals (e.g. during a survey); and/or
- the NMP and/or the manufacturer receives many formal complaints or anecdotal evidence that HRP2-based RDTs are giving false-negative results for *P. falciparum*.

3.1.2 National assessment of the prevalence of false-negative RDT results caused by *pfhrp2/3*-deleted variants

The interpretation of the survey data collected to date (see Fig. 3) is limited by methodological differences in the studies performed, particularly in the selection of patients or screening methods, resulting in large variations in the estimated prevalence of *pfhrp2/3*-deleted variants. When an NMP or other credible group detects *pfhrp2/3* gene deletions in local strains, it should determine the prevalence in the country in order to plan an appropriate response; NMPs in neighbouring countries should do the same. Although the infrastructure for activities such as Malaria Indicator Surveys (MIS) and therapeutic efficacy studies may be used to determine the distribution of these strains, these surveys are limited in scope; although they cannot provide accurate data on the frequency and spread of *pfhrp2/3*-deleted parasites causing false-negative RDT results, they can trigger additional investigations and surveys if *pfhrp2/3*-deleted parasites are confirmed. In this regard, these surveys can provide warning signals when deletions are identified, but cannot accurately generate population-level data (as explained in Box 2 below) and may not be adequate to inform policy decision-making.

Box 2. Limitations of alternative survey approaches for the assessment of national prevalence of false-negative RDT results caused by *pfhrp2/3* deletions

To investigate the *pfhrp2/3* deletion status of *P. falciparum* parasites, several studies have been conducted using alternative survey methodologies that differ from the WHO surveillance protocol templates (50, 51). These include MIS, Demographic and Health Surveys (DHS), and therapeutic efficacy studies. When outcomes from these alternative study methodologies indicate a > 5% prevalence of false-negative RDTs caused by deletions, they can serve as red flags for planning where to target investigation of deletions and highlight the need to conduct larger surveys to determine deletion status at the national level. However, a lack of deletions in these surveys does not mean that *pfhrp2* deletions are not present at potentially clinically relevant thresholds.

Therefore, it is important to understand the limitations of the data collected from non-standardized surveys, as they may not accurately represent national/regional or local prevalence of *pfhrp2* deletions. Some of the limitations of these alternative approaches are highlighted here.

Sample size: Alternative survey designs most often fail to meet sample size requirements (300 confirmed *P. falciparum* cases per domain based on 10 health facilities per domain) recommended in the WHO surveillance protocol templates (*50, 51*).

Screening methodology: Testing of subjects using a WHO-prequalified HRP2based RDT and a non-HRP2-based RDT or quality-assured microscopy is recommended during enrolment. Most often, alternative survey designs do not follow these criteria and it becomes challenging to determine the number of deletions causing false-negative RDT results. In some cases, only HRP2-RDTpositive cases are enrolled.

Some surveys use immunoassays such as multiplex bead assay or ELISA for determining infection status after enrolment. As sensitivity of these immunoassays differs from the RDT detection threshold and is often not standardized, it can be challenging to use the results of these immunoassays to estimate the prevalence of false-negative RDT results caused by deletions. **Symptomatic versus asymptomatic cases:** Many surveys include subjects with no symptoms of malaria, which will lead to biases, as RDTs are designed to detect symptomatic cases. In addition, some data from the Democratic Republic of the Congo and Ghana suggest that *pfhrp2* deletions may be more common among asymptomatic parasitaemic individuals, as repeat surveys among clinical cases have revealed no or very low prevalence of *pfhrp2* deletions (*35, 44, 52, 53*).

Transmission status: Many surveys focus on enrolling subjects from high transmission areas and do not include all regions with low transmission. Historically, high levels of deletions are more commonly reported in low transmission areas, and it is possible that alternative survey methods will not yield nationally representative data for assessing *pfhrp2/3* deletions.

WHO has published two surveillance protocol templates. These are the same except that one for surveillance only and one has the addition of biobanking of samples for potential additional research outputs (50, 51). The protocol targets the most relevant group for case management and disease control: symptomatic individuals attending health facilities who are being evaluated for clinical malaria. The goal of the protocol, the elements of which are described below, is to rapidly determine whether the prevalence of false-negative RDT results caused by pfhrp2/3-deleted parasites among patients with falciparum malaria is high enough (> 5%) to consider changing the malaria diagnostic strategy and tools. Clinical sites for enrolment of patients in surveys of the prevalence of pfhrp2/3 deletions should be selected such that they represent the population distribution and heterogeneity of transmission.

NMPs may wish to establish sentinel sites to repeat estimates of the *pfhrp2/3* deletion prevalence over time in order to determine whether changes in diagnostic testing are effective at controlling the transmission of *pfhrp2/3*-deleted variants. New initiatives to find these gene deletions are not currently recommended if there are no confirmed reports of *pfhrp2/3* gene deletions locally or in neighbouring countries.

3.1.3 Response to survey outcome: > 5% false-negative RDT results caused by *pfhrp2/3* deletions

If a survey confirms that the prevalence of false-negative HRP2 RDT results caused by *pfhrp2/3* deletions is greater than 5%, then the NMP will need to take a series of actions to immediately optimize case management and plan for the cessation of HRP2 RDTs and introduction of replacement RDTs. Any change should be applied nationwide, although roll-out might be prioritized on the basis of the prevalence of *pfhrp2/3* deletions.

Step 1 Immediately introduce safeguards to reduce the impact of false-negative RDT results

A number of safeguards can be introduced and the choice and scope of implementation will be influenced by the prevalence and distribution of malaria and false-negative HRP2 RDT results caused by *pfhrp2/3* deletions, patient access to good-quality microscopy, ACT stocks, the capacity to rapidly inform end-users and the feasibility of RDT product retrieval.

In the highest risk areas, initiate an order for health workers to immediately adopt alternative diagnostic algorithms, depending on the type of HRP2-based RDT being used (a, b, c, d):

a) HRP2-only RDTs:

- Treat all positive cases as per national guidelines.
- Send RDT-negative patients for quality-assured microscopy.
- If microscopy is not available or the patient is unlikely to follow through with referral, provide presumptive treatment.

b) HRP2/pan-pLDH RDTs:

- Treat all HRP2 and/or pan-pLDH test line positive cases with ACTs to cover both HRP2-expressing and non-expressing *P. falciparum* and non-*P. falciparum* infections.
- To confirm species, send pan-pLDH test line-only positive cases for quality-assured microscopy or perform a *P. vivax*-specific RDT.

c) HRP2/Pv-LDH RDTs:

- Treat positive RDT results as per national guidelines.
- Send HRP2 test line negative patients for quality-assured microscopy.
- If microscopy is not available or if the patient is unlikely to follow through with referral, provide presumptive treatment.

To avoid undermining confidence in RDTs, it is important for the communication accompanying the new diagnostic algorithm to explain that RDT failures were most likely attributable to parasite factors and not to RDT defects.

If the prevalence of false-negative RDT results caused by *pfhrp2/3* deletions is extremely high, as was the case in Eritrea (28) and Djibouti (26, 54), and confidence in RDT results has been severely eroded, then the following algorithm should be considered:

d) Stop using HRP2-based RDTs and confirm diagnosis by quality-assured microscopy.

• Where quality-assured microscopy services are not available or not accessible, treat all malaria suspects presumptively with ACTs until quality-assured microscopy or other WHO-prequalified diagnostic tests can be deployed.

Step 2 Investigate feasibility and resources for product retrieval

This decision will be based on the available resources, the interim diagnostic algorithm selected, the expiry dates of lots in the field and anticipated time before product replacement is deployed.

Step 3 Carry out supplementary distribution +/- procurement of ACT stocks

If a decision is made to fully or partially introduce presumptive treatment of malaria suspects until replacement RDTs are distributed, the demand for ACTs will increase and will need to be met with existing or supplementary stocks.

Step 4 Select and procure replacement RDTs

Ideally, all replacement RDTs being considered for use should be either WHO-prequalified or in the WHO prequalification assessment pipeline and meet WHO performance criteria² for the detection of all *P. falciparum* strains, including those with *pfhrp2/3* deletions.

Until recently, the laboratory evaluation component of the prequalification process did not include *pfhrp2/3*-deleted variants and therefore performance of non-HRP2 RDTs against HRP2-expressing *P. falciparum* panels was assumed to be representative of test performance against non-HRP2-expressing parasites. The majority of Pf-LDHbased RDTs have poorer performance against the evaluation panel of *pfhrp2/3* single- and double-deleted samples and as of July 2024 these products do not meet the prequalification criteria. Given these challenging circumstances, interim guidance on procurement in areas with a high prevalence of *pfhrp2/3* gene deletions has been provided (*55*). This guidance will be updated as new data emerge and as nextgeneration RDTs are developed and approved for general international procurement.

Status updates on products in the prequalification pipeline can be found at https:// extranet.who.int/prequal/vitro-diagnostics/vitro-diagnostics-under-assessment, and updates on their prequalification status can be found at https://www.who.int/teams/ global-malaria-programme/case-management/diagnosis/rapid-diagnostic-tests/ selection-and-procurement. Performance against *pfhrp2/3*-negative samples with antigen concentrations reflecting 2000 parasites/ μ L is included to inform selection of RDTs for use in surveys, as a *pfhrp2* deletion screening tool, based on the WHO survey protocol templates (50, 51). More specifically, only those RDTs that have a panel detection score of > 90% against 2000 parasites/ μ L should be used to screen for suspected *pfhrp2/3* deletions (5).

Table 2 summarizes alternative testing options for areas where the prevalence of falsenegative HRP2 RDT results caused by pfhrp2/3 gene deletions is > 5%.

Table 2. Alternative testing options for areas with a > 5% prevalence of false-negative RDT results caused by pfhrp2/3 deletions

Target species	Target antigens	
Detect P. falciparum	pan-pLDH-only RDTs Combination of HRP2 and pf-LDH°	
Detect and discriminate Pf from Pv or non-Pf infections	Combination of Pf-LDH, HRP2 and pan-pLDH° Combination of Pf-LDH, HRP2 and Pv-LDH° Combination of Pf-LDH, Pv-LDH	

^a Pf-LDH and HRP2 may be on the same test line or separate test lines

2 Panel detection score ≥ 75% at 200 parasites/µL, false-positivity rate < 10% and invalid rate < 5%

Table 3 lists the non-WHO-prequalified tests meeting critical criteria for malaria case management that are currently available.

Product name	Product code	Manufacturer name
Biocredit Malaria Ag Pf (pLDH)	C14RHG25, C14RHH25	Rapigen Inc.
Biocredit Malaria Ag Pf (pLDH/HRP2)	C13RHG25, C13RHH25	Rapigen Inc.
Biocredit Malaria Ag Pf/Pv (pLDH/pLDH)	C61RHG25, C61RHH25	Rapigen Inc.
CareStart™ Malaria Pf (HRP2/pLDH) Ag RDT	RMPM-02571	Access Bio Inc.
CareStart™ Malaria PAN (pLDH) Ag RDT	RMNM-02571	Access Bio Inc.

Table 3. Available non-WHO-prequalified tests meeting critical criteriaª

 Valid ISO 13485:2003, submission of application for WHO prequalification, and acceptable diagnostic performance against both HRP2-expressing and non-HRP2-expressing at 200 parasites/µL (*pfhrp2/3* single or double deletions), based on the most recent WHO laboratory assessment performed at the United States Centers for Disease Control and Prevention.

a) Replacing RDTs for case management in areas with *pfhrp2* deletions and predominantly *P. falciparum* transmission

As of July 2024, four non-WHO-prequalified tests – pan-pLDH-only RDT (CareStart[™] Malaria PAN), HRP2/Pf-LDH single-line RDT (CareStart[™] Malaria Pf (HRP2/pLDH) Ag RDT) and two Pf-LDH RDTs (BIOCREDIT Malaria Ag Pf (pLDH) and dual test-line BIOCREDIT Malaria Ag Pf (pLDH/HRP2)) – meet the performance criteria on both HRP2-expressing and non-expressing performance panels and would therefore be the top choices for RDT replacement in places where it is not a high priority to discriminate between *Plasmodium* spp., i.e. in most of sub-Saharan Africa. The BIOCREDIT RDTs listed above are approved by the Global Fund Expert Review Panel for Diagnostics and can therefore be procured with Global Fund financing for use in areas where HRP2-based RDTs cannot be used.

b) Replacing RDTs for case management in areas with *pfhrp2* deletions and mixed *P. falciparum* and *P. vivax* transmission

As of July 2024, no Pf-LDH-containing combination (Pf-specific and Pv-specific) RDTs are WHO-prequalified. However, there is one product (BIOCREDIT Malaria Ag Pf/Pv (pLDH/pLDH)) with laboratory testing completed that meets the performance criteria on both HRP2-expressing and non-expressing panels of *P. falciparum* and *P. vivax* panels. This product is approved by the Global Fund Expert Review Panel for Diagnostics and can therefore be procured with Global Fund financing for use in areas where HRP2-based RDTs cannot be used.

There are several Pf-LDH-based combination RDTs that do perform well at higher densities/antigen concentrations. Ultimately, the impact of using these less sensitive Pf-LDH test lines for clinical case management of *P. falciparum* in areas with *pfhrp2/3* deletions will depend on the interplay of the various factors listed below (Box 3); however, most programmes will not have the required data to assess the impact of using less sensitive Pf-LDH combination RDTs.

Box 3. Factors affecting the performance of Pf-LDH combination RDTs against *pfhrp2/3*-deleted parasites

- prevalence of *pfhrp2/3*-deleted parasites in the population
- HRP3 cross-reactivity with HRP2 RDTs
- the multiplicity of infection in the population i.e. infections that include both HRP2-expressing and non-expressing *P. falciparum* isolates
- prevalence of lower density infections; reviews suggest that 0–30% of symptomatic *P. falciparum* cases are < 200 parasites/μL (57)

When better performing RDTs using Pf-LDH or other non-HRP2 antigens become available, another important consideration in selecting a replacement combination test will be the technical complexity. Although the protocols (i.e. blood volume, drops of buffer, reading time) for various RDT products will be similar and unlikely to pose major difficulties for health workers, the test interpretation does vary considerably depending on the number of test lines, their order and the target antigen. Pilot testing some of these different options with a small group of intended users could provide valuable insights for product selection.

Step 5 Re-training and roll-out

While awaiting the arrival of the replacement RDT(s), plans should be developed for re-training and supervision, including relevant adaptations of training materials, standard operating procedures, job aids, and so on. Routine reporting forms may also need to be revised to most accurately reflect the results of one or more new RDTs. The roll-out of training and replacement RDTs should be prioritized from high to low prevalence of false-negative HRP2 RDT results caused by *pfhrp2/3* deletions. Coupling re-training on RDT use with refresher training on microscopy should be strongly considered in areas with both *P. falciparum* and non-falciparum species, and where programmes will be reliant on microscopy for species confirmation.

Ultimately, encouraging manufacturers to submit their products for WHO prequalification and evaluating currently prequalified products against a larger, more geographically diverse panel of clinical *pfhrp2/3*-deleted isolates are top priorities. Longer term, the development of tests that can meet the full set of criteria should be actively pursued; opportunities are discussed in section 3.5 below.

3.2 Strengthened and expanded laboratory networks

Strengthening laboratory capacity for the detection of malaria has been a critical feature of national and international malaria control. The emergence and spread of *P. falciparum* strains that cannot be detected with HRP2-based RDTs will further stretch local laboratory capacity, both for microscopy and RDT testing. Although expert microscopy has repeatedly shown good performance, microscopy services have been difficult to establish and maintain in peripheral settings, and many reports have documented poor sensitivity and specificity in the field detection of malaria by microscopy (*57–61*). Meeting the capacity to assess suspected false-negative HRP2-based RDTs will require quality-assured microscopy and/or staff trained and ready to correctly use non-HRP2-only RDTs that are not in routine use in the NMP.

In addition to assessing individual reports of suspected false-negative RDT results, national surveys should be conducted to establish the prevalence of false-negative RDT results caused by *pfhrp2/3* deletions (50, 51), which would require more training and perhaps staff recruitment, depending on local workloads. Survey protocols will also require procurement and distribution of Pf-LDH-based RDTs. As each RDT has specific instructions for use, performance of multiple testing methods in 10 health facilities per province – at least during a survey for *pfhrp2/3*-deleted variants – is not a trivial task.

Discordant test results between two different RDTs may be attributable to many factors, and not all HRP2-negative, Pf-LDH-positive RDT results will be due to *pfhrp2/3* deletions (see Table 4).

In some settings, less than half of all suspected false-negative HRP2 RDT results are found to be due to *pfhrp2/3* deletions (*35, 64, 65*), while in others, the predictive value of false-negative HRP2 RDT results for gene deletion is much greater. Molecular analysis is essential for investigating causes of false-negative HRP2 RDT results and confirming deletions. Confirming the presence of gene deletions requires sampling, labelling and preparation of dried blood spots for shipping and multiple molecular analyses in regional or international laboratories. This work should be done in a timely manner so that the NMP can plan for possible procurement of new types of RDTs.

Molecular analysis can be performed on dried blood spots, but the technical work is complex and requires PCR for species confirmation, quantification, extraction and recovery of sufficient undegraded *Plasmodium* DNA and analysis of the exons and flanking genes of *pfhrp2* and *pfhrp3 (41)*. As *pfhrp2/3*-deleted variants can be detected only as the absence of amplified products of pfhrp exons, rigorous control must be used to ensure the presence of undegraded, amplifiable parasite DNA and lack of PCR contamination. Molecular analysis to detect the absence of amplification can be confounded by multiple factors, including the specific reaction conditions, a concentration of target genetic sequences below the limit of detection, degradation of the target DNA, or presence of contaminating native or amplicon DNA. It is recommended that all samples from patients in the survey that are found to have a suspected false-negative HRP2 RDT result be sent for molecular analysis. Therefore, the number of samples to be genetically analysed will depend on the prevalence of *pfhrp2/3*-deleted variants (and the frequency of other events causing false-negative results).

Classification	Cause of false-negative RDT result	Suggested actions	
Operator factors	Operator error in preparing the RDT, perform-ing the test or interpreting the result	Verify whether RDTs were used by untrained staff; assess RDT user competence on site.	
Use of an imperfect "gold standard" as a comparator	Thick and thin films from a patient with a negative RDT result incorrectly interpreted as "positive" by microscopy	Verify microscopy results and interpretation by a qualified micros-copist.	
Product design or quality	Poor sensitivity of an RDT due to poor specificity, affinity or insufficient quantity of antibodies. Poor packaging can result in exposure to humidity, which will rapidly degrade RDTs.	Inspect the instructions for errors; inspect the integrity of the packaging, including the colour indicator desiccant for evidence of moisture. Cross-check suspected false-negative RDT results with microscopy performed by two qualified microscopists or, if microscopy is not available, with a high-quality non-HRP2- detecting RDT; retrieve RDTs from affected areas and send them to a WHO-recognized laboratory for lot testing. ^a	
	Poor visibility of test bands due to strong background colour on the test	Assess RDT performance and training on site; if the strong background colour persists, notify the manufacturer.	
	Incorrect instructions for use	Review the instructions for use for accuracy.	
Transport or storage conditions	Antibody degradation due to poor resistance to heat, or incorrect transport or storage, e.g. exposure to high temperatures, freeze-thawing	Inspect temperature monitoring of RDT transport and storage chain to determine whether temperatures exceed maximum storage temperature, typically 30°C or 40°C or < 2°C. If temperatures are not within the range in the manufacturer's instructions, send the RDTs to the WHO lot- testing laboratory.° Train health workers to respect storage conditions, and improve storage facilities (e.g. add fans).	
Parasite factors	Parasites lacking or expressing low levels of the target antigen, i.e. HRP2	Patient samples are negative on an HRP2 test line of at least two quality-assured malaria RDTs and positive on the pan- or Pf-LDH test line if a combination RDT is used, and the sample is confirmed microscopically to be positive for <i>P. falciparum</i> by two qualified microscopists. If these conditions are met, place fresh blood sam-ples or dried blood spots (50–60 μ L) on Whatman® 3MM filter pa-per or other collection cards, in 4°C or frozen storage (-20°C), if possible, until shipment for molecular analysis of <i>P. falciparum</i> and <i>pfhrp2/3</i> gene deletion status.	
	Variation in the amino acid sequence of the epitope targeted by the monoclonal antibody	Repeat test with an RDT of a different brand or different manufacturer that targets the same antigen or an RDT that targets a different antigen, e.g. pan-pLDH or Pf-LDH. Manufacturers may use monoclonal antibodies that target different epitopes of the same antigen.	
Host parasite density	Very low parasite density or target antigen concentration	Perform high-quality microscopy and record the parasite count; if high-quality microscopy is not available, repeat the RDT if symptoms persist.	
	Very high parasite load (severe malaria) causing prozone effect (hyperparasitaemia and antigen overload)	Repeat testing with a 10× dilution and, if needed, a subsequent 50× dilution of the sample, with dilutions in 0.9% NaCl <i>(62)</i> .	

Table 4. Causes of false-negative RDT results and investigative actions

a Information about lot testing can be found on the WHO website (63).

A number of international reference laboratories with experience in *pfhrp2/3* molecular analysis are already collaborating with WHO (see Table 5). Although these laboratories have shown willingness to contribute to a better understanding of the causes and distribution of these mutated falciparum strains and to perform molecular testing of samples obtained in national HRP surveys, the manpower and reagents for the predicted workload are not currently funded or guaranteed.

Country	Name of institute	
United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland	Malaria Reference Laboratory/Faculty of Infectious Diseases/ London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine	
United States of America	University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill	
Australia	Australian Defence Force Malaria and Infectious Disease Institute and QIMR Berghofer Medical Research Institute	
United States of America	Centers for Disease Control and Prevention	
Senegal	Université Cheikh Anta Diop de Dakar, and International Center for Research and Training in Applied Genomics and Health Surveillance	
Peru	Universidad Peruana Cayetano Heredia	
India	National Institute of Malaria Research	

Table 5. List of international laboratories participating in the WHO reference laboratory network supporting pfhrp2/3 deletion surveillance

National programmes themselves may have an interest in using or strengthening their local capacity for molecular analysis; however, the lack of standardization of molecular methods (in terms of both the protocol and reagents used) and lack of a malaria molecular assay that has been approved by a stringent regulatory authority make the comparison of results between studies and between laboratories problematic (66). The consequences of false-positive and false-negative results for *pfhrp2/3* gene deletions will have serious negative impacts. WHO is therefore committed to working with expert laboratories and donors to strengthen the global capacity for detecting *pfhrp2/3* deletions through linking with reference laboratories and facilitating the sharing of protocols. Where capacity exists, regional and national laboratories with molecular expertise could play an important role, but it will be incumbent upon countries embarking on national *pfhrp2* deletion surveys to have a molecular assessment plan that includes the capacity and agreements to ship samples internationally to collaboratories with the necessary capacity and quality control.

All laboratories that conduct molecular analysis for detection of malaria parasites are encouraged to participate in the WHO external quality assurance scheme for malaria nucleic acid amplification testing (WHO malaria NAAT EQA scheme), established in 2017 (67, 68). Under this scheme, participants receive proficiency testing panels twice a year that include all *Plasmodium* species in a range of parasite densities, with *pfhrp2/3*deleted parasites available in the panel as well.

3.3 New research

3.3.1 Molecular function of HRP2 and HPR3

Although the precise physiological function of HRP2 and its structural analogue HRP3 is still largely unknown, some studies have shown that HRP2 plays a potential role in haemozoin formation (69) and cerebral malaria pathogenesis (70, 71). The structure and variability of the genes that encode HRP2 and HRP3 proteins have been described previously (72, 73). Both HRP2 and HRP3 are encoded by single-copy genes located in subtelomeric regions of chromosomes 8 and 13, respectively. These regions near the end of the chromosome are known to have multiple repeating elements and are hot spots for mutations. These qualities are used by some parasites (e.g. Trypanosoma brucei) to generate variable surface antigens in order to escape the host immune system. P. falciparum strains containing intact pfhrp2 genes often have variable genetic sequences. In a study of 458 P. falciparum strains collected globally, 315 different pfhrp2 genetic sequences were found. Of the subset of 80 strains in which the pfhrp3 gene was also sequenced, 42 different sequences were found (18). Although there is some evidence that such sequence variation can affect the clinical sensitivity of tests based on specific monoclonal antibodies, this is seen only near the limit of detection and has a limited effect on the overall clinical sensitivity (except in the case of outright gene deletion) (74). Deletions that halt the expression of HRP2 or HRP3 may occur at various locations around the *pfhrp2/3* exons and are frequently large, involving not only the relevant *pfhrp2/3* genes but also the upstream and downstream flanking genes (16, 17, 20, 75). It has been reported that there are random deletions of certain seaments of chromosomes in the *P. falciparum* genome; these two genes are located in such hotspots and become targets of such random deletions (76). A recent analysis of publicly available genomic sequences suggests that duplication-mediated interchromosomal translocation in these chromosomal segments plays a key role in *pfhrp3* deletions in Africa and South America (77).

3.3.2 Transmissibility of *pfhrp2/3*-deleted parasites

There are no conclusive data on the transmissibility of *pfhrp2/3*-deleted variants, compared to that of wild-type parasites; however, these variants are clearly transmitted from person to person and may be responsible for epidemics that could be missed in areas in which HRP2-only RDTs are used. In 2010, an outbreak of 210 cases of genotypically identical falciparum malaria cases occurred in the Tumbes region of northern Peru, where autochthonous transmission had been stopped and the area had been malaria-free for the preceding four years (24). Genotyping of 188 P. falciparum strains with *pfhrp2* deletions collected over seven years in areas of Peru with ongoing transmission showed increasing clonal diversity, with clear evidence of the evolution of new strains carrying deletions (17). A subsequent longitudinal study conducting temporal analysis of *pfhrp2* deletions in Peru from 2011 to 2018 showed continued expansion of parasites with dual deletions of *pfhrp2* and *pfhrp3* (42). Overall, *pfhrp2* and *pfhrp3* dual gene deletions were detected in 67% of parasite samples. Prevalence of gene deletions varied across study sites. There was a trend towards an overall increase in the prevalence of dual *pfhrp2/3*-deleted parasites between 2011 (14.3%) and 2016 (88.39%), stabilizing at around 65% in 2018. A single clonal lineage (H8) contributed to the expansion and spread of dual-deleted parasites. Interestingly, participants infected with dual pfhrp2/3-deleted parasites had significantly lower parasitaemia than those without gene deletions in this cohort, suggesting that there may be a potential fitness cost for pfhrp2/3-deleted parasites. As expansion of double-deleted parasites occurred in the absence of RDT pressure, it appears that other factors linked to the *pfhrp2/3* deletions provide a selective advantage over non-deleted strains. Future studies are needed to better understand the role of other biological/environmental factors driving the selection of deleted parasites in the absence of RDT pressure.

3.3.3 Deteminants of spread of *pfhrp2/3*-deleted parasites

As pointed out earlier, the specific factors driving the evolution and spread of pfhrp2/3-deleted variants are not clear, although it is reasonable to consider that selective pressure from HRP2 detection plays an important role; however, this is not the only factor. Data from a DHS in the Democratic Republic of the Congo suggest a link between a higher prevalence of pfhrp2 deletions and earlier introduction of HRP2-based RDTs (35). It is unclear whether the strictness of adherence to diagnostic results in providing therapy helps to drive the emergence of deleted variants; however, the predominance of these strains in Eritrea, where NMP guidelines are followed closely, is noteworthy. In two studies, mathematical models were used to characterize the effect of introducing HRP2-based RDTs on the emergence and spread of *pfhrp2/3*-deleted variants (78, 79). These models show that there is a high potential for *pfhrp2*-deleted parasites to spread through a community when the detection of P. falciparum malaria relies solely on HRP2-based RDTs. Although further studies in different endemic settings are needed to test the role of HRP2-based RDT testing in driving the selection of *pfhrp2/3*-deleted parasites, it is worth pointing out observations from recent studies (43, 80). In Eritrea, two years after HRP2based RDTs were replaced with non-HRP2-based RDTs, the prevalence of pfhrp2-deleted parasites was significantly lower at multiple survey sites than at the original sites. This finding suggests that the removal of selective pressure caused by HRP2-based RDTs may have contributed to a decline in *pfhrp2*-deleted parasites. Consistent with this hypothesis, the genetic diversity of the gene-deleted parasites increased after the change of RDTs. In Ethiopia, molecular inversion probe sequencing was used to identify genetic signatures of recent evolutionary selection favouring the expansion of pfhrp2-deleted parasites (30). A follow-up study (80) assessed the genetic background of pfhrp2/3-deleted and nondeleted parasites from three regions. The findings revealed that the majority of pfhrp2/3 deletions occurred in monogenomic infections and such parasites were highly related, with evidence of multiple emergences and clonal spread in specific localities. At the same time, pfhrp2/3 non-deleted parasitic infections were more often polygenomic and were less closely related. These findings suggest that HRP2-based RDTs may be driving some genetic selection in this population. However, there is no conclusive empirical evidence that the choice of RDT influences the prevalence of *pfhrp2/3*-deleted variants in a community.

Some clinical evidence suggests that *pfhrp2/3*-deleted strains have reduced fitness. Cohorts infected with non-HRP2-expressing strains, which included young children, showed a lower parasite density than geographically matched cohorts infected with wild-type parasites (*35, 81*). Although studies with cultured parasites are inadequate for drawing precise conclusions about the fitness of *pfhrp2/3*-deleted variants, one study suggested that these strains showed reduced fitness in vitro (*82*). A recent study directly compared the fitness costs of *pfhrp2* and *pfhrp2/3* gene deletions by removing these genes in an African parasite and comparing the parasite's growth characteristics in in vitro cultures (*83*). This study found that these gene deletions incurred fitness costs in vitro compared to wild-type parasites, a finding that would not favour the selection advantage of *pfhrp2*- or *pfhrp2/3*-deleted parasites without the use of RDTs. Although such a hypothesis remains to be validated in natural populations, which are subject to numerous other selective pressures, including interactions with antimalarial drug resistance (*84*), the data from this study can be used to improve modelling studies to predict the impact of *pfhrp2/3* deletions on selection and spread.

3.3.4 Detection and surveillance of pfhrp2/3-deleted parasites

In addition to research meant to understand the factors that drive the evolution and spread of *pfhrp2/3*-deleted variants, operational and technical research is needed to simplify the process of identifying and tracking the distribution of these strains. The currently proposed process for identifying these variant strains is complex and requires some clinical research infrastructure and sophisticated confirmatory testing. Surrogate markers that are easier to use are needed. For example, there is as yet no information compiled on the predictive value of suspected false-negative HRP2-based RDT results

for gene deletions in different settings. Even if the predictive value were relatively low, if there was a fixed difference between RDT and molecular results in given settings, it could serve as a useful marker to track trends.

In recent years, there have been significant improvements in molecular methods and immunoassays for characterization of *pfhrp2/3* deletions and detection of HRP2 protein. These developments are summarized in a recent study outlining the various molecular and immunological assays available and their advantages and limitations for supporting pfhrp2 deletion surveillance (41). Significant improvements in molecular methods include the development of multiplex real-time PCR methods (85–87) and digital PCR (88) for the detection of *pfhrp2* deletions. Multiplex real-time PCR assays are high-throughput assays that utilize probes for detecting PCR-amplified products, although the target regions for PCR and internal reference controls vary. Unlike initially developed conventional PCR methods, these assays can detect pfhrp2/3 deletions in multiclonal infections. Digital PCR is one of the most recently developed methods for accurate detection of *pfhrp2/3* deletions in multiclonal infections (88). In this method, the reaction volume is partitioned into approximately 15 000 droplets/partitions, and each droplet functions as an individual PCR reaction. Accordingly, this assay enables precise guantitative measures of deleted parasites in multiclonal infections. In this respect, digital PCR is more precise than realtime PCR methods for quantifying deletions in multiclonal infections. Digital PCR does not require external standards and is not affected by amplification efficiency. However, the initial cost of establishing this assay is higher than for real-time PCR, and it is less commonly available in African countries. However, with the help of international donors, some malaria-endemic countries have developed capacity for this assay.

Whole genome sequencing (WGS) has been used to characterize *pfhrp2/3* gene deletions, most commonly involving short sequencing reads (89). This approach requires well developed bioinformatic pipelines for assembling sequencing reads to determine genetic sequences. Since *pfhrp2* and *pfhrp3* genes have highly repetitive genome sequences that are variable between different strains, assembly of these sequences requires considerable bioinformatics expertise. In this context, long-read sequencing platforms may offer an alternative approach for correctly assembling sequences and overcoming some of the challenges associated with short-read sequences. WGS methods are useful for determining the exact location of deletion points within chromosomes, determining the genetic diversity in populations, and understanding evolutionary patterns of deletion. However, WGS methods are not cost-effective for determining *pfhrp2/3* deletions compared to PCR methods and are more suitable for research laboratories. Recently, an amplicon-based deep sequencing method has been developed, which uses molecular inversion probes to amplify hundreds of targets, including pfhrp2/3 genes and their flanking regions (30). This method has been successfully used for a large *pfhrp2* deletion survey in Ethiopia. It is a cost-effective and high-throughput alternative to WGS that enables evolutionary analysis using genetic signatures of the parasite population. In general, long-read and short-read amplicon deep sequencing and WGS have limitations, as both depend on read coverage to determine the absence of *pfhrp2/3* genes. It is well known that read coverage can also be affected by factors other than deletions. Amplicon deep sequencing tools should include steps to ensure that the PCR-negative results are true negatives before proceeding to the sequencing steps. Careful optimization of sequencing and bioinformatic analysis will be required for collecting reliable data. These new technologies should be rigorously validated under both laboratory and field conditions before they are deployed as tools to aid in changing policies.

Targeted nanopore sequencing using MinION (90) offers a portable sequencing platform that can be relatively easier to use in developing countries and can be less expensive than WGS. This mobile technology is promising for use in gene deletion investigations. A recent study reported the development of a targeted genome

sequencing protocol for amplification of *pfhrp2/3* genes along with some candidate vaccine antigens, using specimens stored in dried blood spots (91). This study reported performance of this method using mock-prepared known laboratory strains and fieldcollected specimens from Zambia. This was an initial proof of concept demonstration study and the current limitations of this technology were acknowledged, namely that specimens with high-density parasitaemia (> 1000 parasites/µL) are required and lowquality reads are generated for *pfhrp3*. In another study, portable MinION was used to characterize *pfhrp2* sequences, using artemisinin-resistant genetic marker Kelch 13 as a control (92). Sequencing of *pfhrp2* was successful in 93 out of 152 field samples. A subset of these specimens were compared using long-read sequencing technology and there was perfect concordance. Nevertheless, there were certain limitations identified, including quantitative ambiguity, pfhrp2-specific issues that affected the consistency and degree of barcode performance, and the impact of low quality on the de novo assemblies. As a positive development, an open-source software has been described and standardized protocols openly shared. One particular advantage of this portable platform is that it can provide real-time results and has the potential for use in remote settings if basic molecular laboratory capacity is available. Targeted nanopore sequencing may be a solution for countries/regions from which specimens cannot be shipped for deletion investigation and could reduce time delays in such investigations.

High-throughput assays that can detect malaria parasite antigens in blood specimens, including dried blood spots, are available for laboratory use and investigation of *pfhrp2* deletions. These include ELISA, chemiluminescent assays and bead-based assays. Among these methods, the multiplex bead-based assay has been used in multiple surveys for *pfhrp2* deletion analysis (93). This approach has been used to create assays that can detect the HRP2 protein at sub-picogram levels and can be used for moderate-to high-throughput testing (94). This assay has been used as an alternative to PCR to confirm RDT results, as well as to validate the absence of HRP2 during *pfhrp2* deletion investigation studies and surveys (93). This method is cost-effective, highly sensitive and quantitative. Currently, this method is used in selected laboratories, including in Africa, and antibody-coated beads are made in selected laboratories. When these beads become commercially available, this method can be extended broadly and quality standards can be implemented to compare results between laboratories.

As there is an increased need for conducting surveillance for *pfhrp2/3* gene deletions, it is important to enhance laboratory capacity in malaria-endemic countries. The COVID-19 pandemic and Ebola virus disease epidemic response efforts have highlighted the need to build laboratory capacity that can broadly support all infectious disease related threats and response. International donors and multinational agencies are recognizing the importance of cross-cutting investments in public health laboratory capacity, data management, and implementation of quality management programmes and standards. The Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation has made significant investments in building laboratory capacity for malaria surveillance and monitoring of pfhrp2/3 deletions and drug resistance through large grants to African countries. The Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation and other donors are also making significant investments in building genomics laboratory capacity across Africa in collaboration with the Africa Centres for Disease Control and Prevention and multiple national research establishments. These investments have led to collaboration between established international laboratories and laboratories in developing countries for the transfer of technical capacity and training. Practical considerations for reference laboratories, testing requirements and validation of test results related to HRP2 surveys have been summarized in a recent review (41). WHO offers a malaria NAAT EQA scheme that enables implementation and monitoring of molecular assay quality for diagnosis and provides well characterized Plasmodium panels, including panels of pfhrp2/3-deleted parasites (67, 68, 95).

3.4 Diagnostics research and development

3.4.1 Alternative biomarkers of *P. falciparum* malaria

The occurrence of strains that do not express HRP2/3 increases the likelihood that some infected patients will be missed by conventional RDT testing. The manufacture of RDTs and their components has been refined over the past 20 years, but there has been little change in *Plasmodium* protein targets. Many of the antigens evaluated using RDTs or ELISA were identified during research, including vaccine development, that was not intended to develop antigen immunocapture assays, and there has been little work focusing on this area in recent years.

Glutamate dehydrogenase, a cytosolic protein of *P. falciparum*, was an early target for malaria antigen detection (96, 97), but was never used in a commercialized assay. Interest in the histidine-rich family of proteins of *P. falciparum* grew from the finding that knob-associated histidine-rich protein, also known as HRP1, was an important protein in knob formation on erythrocytes, a virulence characteristic of *P. falciparum* (98). The finding that HRP2 was secreted, abundant and antigenic, indicated its possible utility as a diagnostic target (99). HRP2 was first reported to be detectable (byELISA) in the plasma of malaria patients in 1991 (100), and by 1993, a lateral-flow immunochromatographic assay suitable for field use had been developed (7, 101).

pLDH became an attractive target for malaria diagnostics when it was realized that the protein had both species-specific and pan-specific epitopes against which monoclonal antibodies could be developed. Furthermore, pLDH was found to be cleared from the blood much more rapidly than HRP2 after effective malaria treatment, rendering it a more specific target for the diagnosis of acute infection, especially in high transmission areas (102).

Other *Plasmodium* proteins, such as dihydrofolate reductase-thymidylate synthase, haem detoxification protein, glutamate-rich protein (103) and glyceraldehyde-3phosphate dehydrogenase (104), have been studied for their diagnostic potential but never used in a commercialized assay. A recent quantitative study of the proteins expressed during the intraerythrocytic development cycle of *P. falciparum* parasites, which are abundant, soluble and unlikely to be confused with human proteins, identified three that deserve further research as diagnostic targets: phosphoethanolamine N-methyltransferase, hypothetical protein PFI1270w and a protein disulfide isomerase (105). Using proteomic analysis of saliva samples from P. falciparum-infected African patients, 35 potential protein targets for use in saliva-based RDTs have been identified (106). One of these markers, a gametocyte-specific marker called PSSP17, has been further characterized as a suitable target for identification of gametocytes in saliva samples and further development as a prototype RDT in collaboration with commercial partners. It remains to be determined if any of the other 35 markers identified in this study can become useful targets for commercial RDTs using saliva or blood as biological specimens. Field evaluation of a new magneto-optical device using haemozoin as a target for diagnosis of malaria has shown it to be comparable to microscopy and RDTs (107). This assay platform uses a battery-operated device with digital interface for recording and reporting. In a Brazilian study, investigators identified a unique P. vivax protein (Vir14) by conducting proteomic analysis of urine samples from patients infected with P. vivax. This protein was not found in other human Plasmodium species and the authors proposed that it could be used for developing a P. vivax-specific RDT (108). These investigators have reported that they are exploring partnerships with RDT manufacturers for developing a new P. vivax-specific RDT.

3.4.2 Optimization of RDTs targeting Pf-LDH

An additional strategy warranting exploration is the use of existing reagents and targets in new assay configurations that have advantages in terms of sensitivity, quantification and ease of use. Greater optimization of monoclonal antibodies or other ligands to increase their robustness, thermostability and affinity (e.g. monoclonal antibodies with high binding affinity, heat stability and specificity to existing targets that can be speciesspecific) would also be valuable. In the short term, perhaps the most pressing need is for non-HRP2-based RDTs targeting Pf-LDH or another antigen that are more sensitive and heat-stable than the non-HRP2-based tests currently available. In terms of analytical sensitivity, there is roughly a 10-fold gap between the detection capacities of HRP2 and pLDH assays. A more sensitive pLDH assay, especially one that targets Pf-LDH, would have great benefits. Most importantly, it would enable countries to phase out HRP2based assays if pfhrp2/3-deleted variants reached important thresholds and replace those tests with assays of comparable performance. Countries where P. falciparum is prevalent that wish to keep testing and result recording as simple as possible could use tests with a single test band that bears both antigens, without fear of missing cases carrying deleted variants or low-density infections. There are several new RDT products that have been submitted for WHO prequalification that are appropriate for use in areas affected by *pfhrp2/3* deletions (Table 3), with more in the pipeline.

Unfortunately, RDT manufacturers are working within very tight profit margins. Despite this, WHO is aware of at least three manufacturers that are developing new Pf-LDH-based RDTs. If these tests meet the improved sensitivity threshold, they will be valuable for use in areas where HRP2-based RDTs are no longer suitable. The market is so competitive and the tests so inexpensive that even critical quality control cannot always be funded. Manufacturers are therefore unlikely to fund even translatable research on reagent optimization and certainly not on the identification of improved biomarkers; external funding will be needed. Policy-makers and independent donors should consider innovative ways to fund the science that is most urgently required to meet public health goals in the short term. It is discouraging that 2021 saw the lowest level of total malaria research funding support allocated to diagnostics research since 2013, as outlined in the *World malaria report 2022 (109)*. Diagnostics received only 2.5% of total malaria funding (US\$ 16 million out of US\$ 626 million spent on research), representing a nearly 50% reduction from peak funding support for diagnostics research between 2017 and 2019 (US\$ 30 million).

Since 2016, WHO has required companies that manufacture malaria RDTs to submit their products for assessment by the WHO prequalification of in vitro diagnostics programme. The WHO and FIND RDT evaluation programme did not include *pfhrp2/3*-deleted variants in the cultured or clinically collected reference specimens until round 8, and this inclusion of *pfhrp2/3*-deleted variants was continued under WHO prequalification independent laboratory evaluation procedures. There is an urgent need to collect additional *pfhrp2/3*-deleted parasite panels from African countries for use in the RDT evaluation programme, as the deleted panels currently available are cultured or from South America. Availability of a robust set of deleted parasite panels from different parts of Africa will be essential for conducting more stringent RDT evaluations. Continuous dialogue among manufacturers, WHO and procurement agencies is necessary to ensure that NMPs can procure products with performance that they can continue to rely on in a timely manner.

3.5 Modelling for future planning

3.5.1 Global risk of selection using an interactive *pfhrp2/3* risk explorer

The likely timeline for countries to transition away from the use of RDTs that rely solely on HRP2 for the detection of *P. falciparum* towards alternative diagnostic methods is dependent upon both epidemiological and economic factors. These factors include malaria prevalence, the prevalence of *P. vivax* malaria, the size of the private drug market, current treatment-seeking rates and the cost of alternative RDTs. A number of countries have already transitioned away from sole reliance on HRP2 to detect *P. falciparum*, and further modelling (*110*) has provided insight into which countries in each WHO region have the highest risk of *pfhrp2/3* deletions becoming established due to selective pressure from HRP2-based RDTs. Modelling suggests that in low transmission settings of the WHO African Region, those countries with high treatment-seeking rates, high levels of testing, and high adherence to RDT outcomes are at the highest risk of *pfhrp2/3* deletions (Fig. 4). An interactive application has been developed to enable users to vary these factors and generate maps accordingly (https://worldhealthorg.shinyapps.io/DeletionRiskExplorer/).



Fig. 4. Predicted areas of concern from the spread of pfhrp2/3 deletions

Note. Once deletions have become established in a region (defined as 1% of clinical cases missed due to *pfhrp2/3* deletions), regions are classified by how quickly deletions will continue to increase. High, moderate and slight risk represents > 5% of clinical cases being misdiagnosed due to *pfhrp2/3* deletions in six, 12 and 20 years, respectively, and marginal risk represents less than 5% of cases by 2040.

Estimating the timeline for RDT transition is hindered by uncertainties in critical parameters, namely malaria prevalence, the coverage of treatment and testing, the prevalence and fitness phenotype of *pfhrp2/3*-deleted parasites, and the speed at which deleted parasites migrate between countries (Table 7). Additional research is needed to refine our understanding of the effect size associated with each of these factors on selection for *pfhrp2/3* deletions, and an improved understanding of these

factors will enhance modelling estimates for when countries may need to transition away from sole reliance on HRP2-based RDTs. Central to this is the need for routine genetic surveillance, which both serves to provide early warning of *pfhrp2/3* deletions and enables the rate of spread of *pfhrp2/3* deletions to be estimated.

Despite these uncertainties, modelling can still provide insight into possible timelines for countries to switch RDTs. These scenario modelling exercises project how pfhrp2/3 deletions may continue to spread in Africa based on the current understanding of the factors associated with pfhrp2/3 selection and spread. Modelling has identified 10 countries at the highest risk of deletions spreading there and subsequently being rapidly selected for; these countries are projected to reach the 5% threshold within the next six years. Of these, three have already switched and three other countries (Kenya, Senegal and Zambia) may need to consider switching RDTs in response to current trends in the spread of *pfhrp2/3* deletions. While countries with low malaria prevalence, such as most endemic countries in the Americas and South Asia, are expected to experience quick selection for pfhrp2/3 deletions, there is considerable uncertainty as to whether imported deletions will become established following introduction due to the inherent transmission stochasticity in low-prevalence settings. Furthermore, while numerous African countries with high malaria prevalence are currently at low risk of selection for *pfhrp2/3* deletions, this assumes that conditions will remain unchanged; deletions may be rapidly selected for if malaria control initiatives reduce prevalence. Accordingly, this modelling emphasizes the need for regular generation of *pfhrp2/3* risk maps in response to updated malaria prevalence and treatment estimates.

The threat of *pfhrp2/3* deletions has significant implications for the continued use of effective RDTs, necessitating an increase in the research and development of RDTs that target alternative antigens alone or in combination with HRP2, as well as alternative diagnostic methods over the next 15 years. While the available data are insufficient to provide accurate timelines for *pfhrp2/3* deletion spread, modelling underscores the need for more data on malaria prevalence and treatment coverage, as well as longitudinal surveys to refine estimates of the effective fitness costs associated with *pfhrp2/3* deletions. It is highly likely that many countries will need to switch from HRP2-based RDTs, highlighting the need for alternative RDTs to be available at scale in the future. The modelling serves the needs of countries, donors and test developers in different ways. For countries, it enables them to assess their risk and prioritize surveillance accordingly; for donors, it supports procurement planning; and for manufacturers, it enables them to predict where market needs are likely to shift and the approximate timeline in order to support their research and development planning.

Drivers of <i>pfhrp2/3</i> selection	Impact on speed of selection for pfhrp2/3 deletions	Data sources
Malaria prevalence	Lower prevalence will increase selection by increasing the likelihood that individuals will be infected by only <i>pfhrp2/3</i> -deleted parasites and will be less likely treated because of a false- negative HRP2 RDT result.	Malaria Atlas Project maps of blood slide positivity for ages 2 to 10 (PfPR ₂₋₁₀) <i>(111)</i>
Microscopy-based diagnosis	The use of microscopy for malaria diagnosis will negate the advantage conferred by <i>pfhrp2/3</i> deletions.	WHO World Malaria Report "proportion of cases confirmed by diagnostic" table
Treatment-seeking rate for fever	Increased treatment seeking and testing with HRP2-based RDTs (which is desirable) will actually increase the rate at which the selective advantage conferred by <i>pfhrp2/3</i> is realized by these parasites evading diagnosis and treatment.	Commodities forecast dashboard by the Malaria Atlas Project (case management commodities) (112), which uses DHS, MIS, Multiple Indicator Cluster Surveys and AIDS Indicator Surveys in a generalized additive mixed model to predict treatment-seeking patterns over time
Proportion of treatment seeking for fever in the private sector	Low use of malaria RDTs has been shown to exist in the private market in a number of locations (113). If the use of RDTs is lower in the private market than in the public sector, then selective pressure will decrease with an increasingly large private drug market.	DHS/MIS used in a generalized additive mixed model for estimating treatment seeking from any (medical) source and for estimating treatment seeking in the public sector
Proportion of individuals seeking care who receive diagnostic test	Low use of any diagnostic test for guiding treatment decisions will reduce selective pressure for <i>pfhrp2/3</i> deletions.	DHS data (surveys in Africa asking if care-seeking febrile children received a finger/heel prick)
Non-adherence to RDT outcomes	Increased non-adherence (which is not desirable) to RDT outcomes (i.e. treating an RDT-negative individual) will negate the selective advantage of <i>pfhrp2/3</i> deletions.	Commodities forecast dashboard by the Malaria Atlas Project (case management commodities) (112), which uses a statistical model of the probability of care-seeking fevers receiving any antimalarial, informed by DHS and MIS data
RDT brands	The use of non-HRP2-based RDTs will negate the selective advantage conferred by <i>pfhrp2/3</i> deletions.	Global Fund price and quality reporting and U.S. President's Malaria Initiative data on volumes of RDT types and brands used
Cross-reactivity of HRP3 epitopes	HRP3 is known to cross-react and may yield a positive HRP2-based RDT result, even if <i>pfhrp2</i> is deleted, which will decrease the selective advantage.	Estimate based on WHO Malaria Threats Map data (21) and studies reporting the performance of HRP2-based RDTs on <i>pfhrp2-/pfhrp3+</i> samples (30, 54, 114)
Fitness costs associated with <i>pfhrp2/3</i> gene deletions	Fitness costs associated with <i>pfhrp2/3</i> gene deletions will reduce the transmissibility of gene-deleted parasites; therefore, low fitness is a selective disadvantage.	Based on an in vitro laboratory assessment of fitness (83) and pfhrp2/3 surveillance data from Eritrea and Ethiopia

Table 6. Key drivers of pfhrp2/3 selection and their impact on the speed of selection

3.5.2 Market size projections

For NMPs, donors and manufacturers to optimally plan for malaria RDT research and development investments, manufacturing and procurement needs, it is important to know how quickly the need for alternative RDTs that are not solely reliant on HRP2 for *P. falciparum* diagnosis might arise over the next 5–10 years, and what volumes of these alternative RDTs may be needed.

To create a demand forecast for alternative malaria RDTs, WHO commissioned a prospective risk analysis to estimate the time taken for each first-level administrative unit (i.e. admin-1 unit – generally corresponding to provinces within a country) to reach the WHO-defined threshold of 5% false-negative RDT results caused by *pfhrp2/3* gene deletions (explained above). The risk analysis estimated three scenarios – "best", "central" and "worst" – representing the outer ranges of the set of parameters used for the modelling; each scenario represents, respectively, the slowest, central and fastest speeds of *pfhrp2/3* selection and therefore of the admin-1 unit reaching the 5% threshold. A complete overview of the analysis and methods can be found in Watson et al. (unpublished data repository, 2023; https://github.com/OJWatson/hrpup/tree/main/analysis/data_out).

WHO then commissioned the Clinton Health Access Initiative (CHAI) to combine the outputs of the "central" scenario analysis with the forecasted public-sector malaria RDT volume estimates produced by CHAI.³ A forecast for alternative RDT demand was created under the assumption that countries would begin to switch to Pf-LDH+/-HRP2 RDTs once 10% of their admin-1 units reached 5% false-negative RDT results caused by *pfhrp2/3* deletions. For countries deciding to switch, it was assumed that 50% of their forecasted public-sector RDT volumes would switch to the alternative RDTs in the first year after making the decision, and 100% in the second year onwards. This is because malaria RDT procurement is typically conducted through annual tenders for a specific RDT type and awarded to a single manufacturer (*116*).

Fig. 5 provides the forecast for alternative RDTs needed in countries that i) are predicted to already need to switch to alternative RDTs and ii) are expected to need to switch to alternative RDTs within the next 5–10 years under the "central" scenario, assuming that countries will switch when at least 10% of their admin-1 units reach the 5% threshold. Fig. 5a shows which countries are likely to switch under this scenario, and Fig. 5b provides the demand forecast for RDTs.

³ CHAI's forecasted volumes of malaria RDT demand in the public sector span the years 2023–2032 and consist of short-term procurement forecast volumes (2023–2025) projected to 2032 based on country-level trends in malaria testing. The short-term procurement volume projections are calculated by trending out future country disbursements for RDTs based on historical disbursements, then dividing by projected average prices per RDT per country. The data for these come from Global Fund grant allocations and commitments data and U.S. President's Malaria Initiative country funding data; more details on these methods are available (115). The short-term procurement volumes are projected into long-term forecasts based on population growth and trends in malaria testing in the public sector estimated by the Malaria Atlas Project. It was assumed that the total RDT volumes procured per country would change in line with estimates of country-level changes in the number of public-sector malaria tests consumed, taking into account country-specific estimates for all-cause fever prevalence, public sector care-seeking rates and public sector testing rates through 2032. These estimates can be found in the Malaria Atlas Project database (112).

Fig. 5. Demand forecast for alternative RDTs by country and by year

Fig. 5a: Countries expected to reach 5% threshold in at least 10% of their admin-1 units by 2023, 2028, 2033 or later



Fig. 5b: Global demand forecast for alternative RDTs if countries that reach 5% threshold in at least 10% of their admin-1 areas switch



Certain limitations of this model must be acknowledged. The forecasting exercise was conducted for Africa only, as no other regions are expected to reach the threshold of 5% false-negative RDT results caused by *pfhrp2/3* gene deletions within the next 40 years, according to even the most pessimistic modelling scenarios. The forecasted volumes of RDTs are limited to the public sector only, given the relatively small volumes of RDTs in the private sector and the uncertainty of how quickly switching may occur in private-sector settings.

3.6 Coordination of response

There are many different interests involved in the discovery, development, quality control, selection, procurement, distribution, storage and use of RDTs. Without a coherent and coordinated response, there is a risk of inefficiency, delay and missed opportunity to continue the recent gains in malaria control. An effective response to this challenge will require specific work to coordinate the actions of the multiple agencies and governments involved. Currently, the role of WHO in this response plan is limited to the following:

- conducting ongoing global mapping of data from prevalence surveys available through the WHO Malaria Threats Map (21);
- nominating and funding an expanded network of reference laboratories;
- providing centralized procurement assistance to countries that are changing RDTs, especially in the Horn of Africa, which is an important need at this time;
- conducting risk-based transition planning to alternative RDTs;
- harmonizing survey protocols through the establishment and update of survey templates;
- facilitating and assisting NMPs to conduct surveillance surveys; and
- facilitating WHO prequalification of new products.

4. Conclusions

The emergence of *P. falciparum* strains that no longer express the HRPs that are the targets of the most commonly used malaria diagnostic tool globally is an extraordinary event that threatens the utility of a critical weapon in the fight against malaria. Ever since this threat was recognized, WHO has taken action to mitigate this threat, issuing guidance on accurate reporting of *pfhrp2/3* deletions, issuing information notes and launching the Malaria Threats *Map (21)* in 2017. These efforts were followed by a global response plan and establishment of a reference laboratory network in 2019, and publication of *pfhrp2/3* gene deletion surveillance and biobanking protocol templates in 2020, both of which were updated in 2024 *(50, 51)*.

The full extent of that threat is still being investigated. It is already a matter of urgent concern, especially in the disparate regions of the Amazon basin and countries in the Horn of Africa, where a > 5% prevalence of false-negative HRP2 RDT results caused by *pfhrp2/3* deletions is forcing changes in diagnostic strategy. However, the choices for replacing HRP2-based RDTs are limited. Several new RDTs have been submitted for WHO prequalification evaluation, and at least three tests that include Pf-LDH lines have passed the laboratory evaluation component. The most critical timely need is for alternative RDTs to achieve WHO prequalification and be rapidly released for diagnostic use.

Managing the response will require needs-based prioritization and risk-based transitioning. It would be counterproductive to attempt to change diagnostic test selection across Africa simultaneously. National and global responses must identify hot spots and balance the risk of missed cases of falciparum malaria due to *pfhrp2/3*-deleted strains against the equally real risk of missing cases by changing to a less sensitive RDT, and the longer term risk of eroding confidence in antigen-based confirmatory testing for malaria. Currently, the WHO threshold for a change to non-HRP2 test is warranted, when *pfhrp2/3* deletions lead to > 5% false-negative HRP2 RDT results in a country.

As new RDTs become available, attention needs to focus on considerations, such as acceptance of new product lines in the real world; how the need to change RDTs due to diagnostic inaccuracies of existing tests impacts confidence in RDTs as reliable diagnostic tools among health care workers and communities; supply chain management and security; stability of new products; and price changes and their impact on the affordability of new tests by public health programmes.

Several types of work must continue and are urgently needed:

- Map the distribution and frequency of *pfhrp2/3*-deleted variants with harmonized, high-quality protocols. In the past, many studies have used non-WHO-recommended survey protocol approaches; this has not led to nationally representative data collection and must be discouraged in the future.
- Build and expand the international network of laboratories to perform the complex molecular confirmation required for mapping, with adequate funding.
- Encourage all laboratories conducting molecular assays in endemic countries to participate in the WHO malaria NAAT EQA scheme.
- Continue supporting countries in the selection and procurement of new RDTs when a change of testing is warranted.
- Advise commercial manufacturers of the priorities for new tests, and provide and update the best available market forecasts.

- Include *pfhrp2/3*-deleted parasites of clinical samples from different countries in Africa in the evaluation panel for conducting stringent evaluation of new non-HRP2-based RDTs, as only a limited number of *pfhrp2/3*-deleted parasites are available as reference panels, mainly from cultured parasites or from one geographical region.
- Work with donor agencies (at a time when overall investment in diagnostic product development is at its lowest level) and research institutes to devise a funding plan to support i) the interim costs for prevalence surveys and the necessary molecular and other laboratory testing, and ii) the search for improved diagnostic targets and high-affinity reagents, and facilitate new sustainable product development opportunities using a fast-track approach.
- Improve local communication and training for health care professionals, laboratory staff, policy-makers and community stakeholders when implementing the switch from HRP2-based to non-HRP2-based RDTs.
- Facilitate deployment of a new generation of point-of-care tests that use different sample types (saliva or other biological fluids), non-invasive tests and other test platforms for point-of-care diagnosis.
- Strengthen coordination among policy-makers, NMPs and their implementing partners, molecular testing laboratories, diagnostic industry representatives, donors and technical agencies to maximize efficiency in tracking and responding to this novel situation.

Achieving these goals within the time frame necessary to satisfy the needs of NMPs and the populations they serve will require a focused, staffed and budgeted effort, and a mechanism for programme management.

References¹

- 1. Thomson R, Parr JB, Cheng Q, Chenet S, Perkins M, Cunningham J. Prevalence of Plasmodium falciparum lacking histidine-rich proteins 2 and 3: a systematic review. Bull World Health Organ. 2020;98(8):558–68F. doi:10.2471/BLT.20.250621.
- 2. World malaria report 2023. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2023 (https://iris. who.int/handle/10665/374472).
- 3. World malaria report 2016. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016 (https://iris. who.int/handle/10665/252038).
- 4. D'Acremont V, Lengeler C, Genton B. Reduction in the proportion of fevers associated with Plasmodium falciparum parasitaemia in Africa: a systematic review. Malar J. 2010;9:240. doi:10.1186/1475-2875-9-240.
- 5. Guidelines for the treatment of malaria, second edition. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2010 (https://www.paho.org/en/documents/guidelines-treatmentmalaria-second-edition-2010).
- 6. Global technical strategy for malaria 2016–2030, 2021 update. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021 (https://iris.who.int/handle/10665/342995).
- Dietze R, Perkins M, Boulos M, Luz F, Reller B, Corey GR. The diagnosis of Plasmodium falciparum infection using a new antigen detection system. Am J Trop Med Hyg. 1995;52(1):45–9. doi:10.4269/ajtmh.1995.52.45.
- Cunningham J, Jones S, Gatton ML, Barnwell JW, Cheng Q, Chiodini PL, et al. A review of the WHO malaria rapid diagnostic test product testing programme (2008–2018): performance, procurement and policy. Malar J. 2019;18(1):387. doi:10.1186/s12936-019-3028-z.
- World Health Organization, Roll Back Malaria, United States Agency for International Development. New perspectives: malaria diagnosis: report of a joint WHO/USAID informal consultation, 25–27 October 1999. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2000 (https://iris.who.int/handle/10665/66321).
- Gatton ML, Rees-Channer RR, Glenn J, Barnwell JW, Cheng Q, Chiodini PL, et al. Pan-Plasmodium band sensitivity for Plasmodium falciparum detection in combination malaria rapid diagnostic tests and implications for clinical management. Malar J. 2015;14:115. doi:10.1186/s12936-015-0629-z.
- 11. Malaria rapid diagnostic test performance: results of WHO product testing of malaria RDTs: round 8 (2016–2018). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018 (https://iris.who.int/handle/10665/276190).
- Luchavez J, Baker J, Alcantara S, Belizario Jr, V, Cheng Q, McCarthy JS, et al. Laboratory demonstration of a prozone-like effect in HRP2-detecting malaria rapid diagnostic tests: implications for clinical management. Malar J. 2011;10:286. doi:10.1186/1475-2875-10-286.
- Unitaid. Malaria diagnostic technology and market landscape, third edition. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016 (https://unitaid.org/assets/Malaria_ Diagnostics_Technology_and_Market_Landscape_3rd_Edition_April_2016-1. pdf).

¹ All references accessed 7 November 2024.

- Prequalified in vitro diagnostics. In: Prequalification of medical products [website]. Geneva: World Health Organization (https://extranet.who.int/prequal/ vitro-diagnostics/prequalified-vitro-diagnostics).
- 15. WHO public reports for in vitro diagnostics. In: Prequalification of medical products [website]. Geneva: World Health Organization (https://extranet.who.int/prequal/vitro-diagnostics/prequalification-reports/whopr).
- 16. Gamboa D, Ho MF, Bendezu J, Torres K, Chiodini PL, Barnwell JW, et al. A large proportion of P. falciparum isolates in the Amazon region of Peru lack pfhrp2 and pfhrp3: implications for malaria rapid diagnostic tests. PLoS One. 2010;5(1):e8091. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0008091.
- 17. Akinyi S, Hayden T, Gamboa D, Torres K, Bendezu J, Abdallah JF, et al. Multiple genetic origins of histidine-rich protein 2 gene deletion in Plasmodium falciparum parasites from Peru. Sci Rep. 2013;3:2797. doi:10.1038/srep02797.
- Baker J, Ho MF, Pelecanos A, Gatton M, Chen N, Abdullah S, et al. Global sequence variation in the histidine-rich proteins 2 and 3 of Plasmodium falciparum: implications for the performance of malaria rapid diagnostic tests. Malar J. 2010;9:129. doi:10.1186/1475-2875-9-129.
- MalariaGEN, Ahouidi A, Ali M, Almagro-Garcia J, Amambua-Ngwa A, Amaratunga C, et al. An open dataset of Plasmodium falciparum genome variation in 7,000 worldwide samples. Wellcome Open Res. 2021;6:42. doi:10.12688/wellcomeopenres.16168.1.
- 20. Sepúlveda N, Phelan J, Diez-Benavente E, Campino S, Clark TG, Hopkins H, et al. Global analysis of Plasmodium falciparum histidine-rich protein-2 (pfhrp2) and pfhrp3 gene deletions using whole-genome sequencing data and metaanalysis. Infect Genet Evol. 2018;62:211–9. doi:10.1016/j.meegid.2018.04.039.
- 21. Malaria Threats Map [website]. Geneva: World Health Organization (https://apps.who.int/malaria/maps/threats/).
- 22. Góes L, Chamma-Siqueira N, Peres JM, Nascimento JM, Valle Sm Arcanjo AR, et al. Evaluation of histidine-rich proteins 2 and 3 gene deletions in Plasmodium falciparum in endemic areas of the Brazilian Amazon. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2020;18(1):123. doi:10.3390/ijerph18010123.
- 23. Murillo Solano C, Akinyi Okoth S, Abdallah JF, Pava Z, Dorado E, Incardona S, et al. Deletion of Plasmodium falciparum histidine-rich protein 2 (pfhrp2) and histidine-rich protein 3 (pfhrp3) genes in Colombian parasites. PLoS One. 2015;10(7):e0131576. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0131576.
- 24. Baldeviano GC, Okoth SA, Arrospide N, Gonzalez RV, Sanchez JF, Macedo S, et al. Molecular epidemiology of Plasmodium falciparum malaria outbreak, Tumbes, Peru, 2010–2012. Emerg Infect Dis. 2015;21(5):797–803. doi:10.3201/eid2105.141427.
- 25. Bendezu J, Torres K, Villasis E, Incardona S, Bell D, Vinetz J, et al. Geographical distribution and genetic characterization of pfhrp2 negative Plasmodium falciparum parasites in the Peruvian Amazon. PLoS One. 2022;17(11):e0273872. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0273872.
- Iriart X, Menard S, Chauvin P, Mohamed HS, Charpentier E, Mohamed MA, et al. Misdiagnosis of imported falciparum malaria from African areas due to an increased prevalence of pfhrp2/pfhrp3 gene deletion: the Djibouti case. Emerg Microbes Infect. 2020;9(1):1984–7. doi:10.1080/22221751.2020.1815590.

- Menegon M, L'Episcopia M, Nurahmed AM, Talha AA, Nour BYM, Severini C. Identification of Plasmodium falciparum isolates lacking histidine-rich protein 2 and 3 in Eritrea. Infect Genet Evol. 2017;55:131–4. doi:10.1016/j.meegid.2017.09.004.
- 28. Berhane A, Anderson K, Mihreteab S, Gresty K, Rogier E, Mohamed S, et al. Major threat to malaria control programs by Plasmodium falciparum lacking histidine-rich protein 2, Eritrea. Emerg Infect Dis. 2018;24(3):462–70. doi:10.3201/ eid2403.171723.
- 29. Golassa L, Messele A, Amambua-Ngwa A, Swedberg G. High prevalence and extended deletions in Plasmodium falciparum hrp2/3 genomic loci in Ethiopia. PLoS One. 2020;15(11):e0241807. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0241807.
- 30. Feleke SM, Reichert EN, Mohammed H, Brhane BG, Mekete K, Mamo H, et al. Plasmodium falciparum is evolving to escape malaria rapid diagnostic tests in Ethiopia. Nat Microbiol. 2021;6(10):1289–99. doi:10.1038/s41564-021-00962-4.
- 31. Alemayehu GS, Blackburn K, Lopez K, Dieng CC, Lo E, Janies D, et al. Detection of high prevalence of Plasmodium falciparum histidine-rich protein 2/3 gene deletions in Assosa zone, Ethiopia: implication for malaria diagnosis. Malar J. 2021;20(1):109. doi:10.1186/s12936-021-03629-x.
- 32. Molina-de la Fuente I, Benito MJS, Flevaud L, Ousley J, Pasquale HA, Julla A, et al. Plasmodium falciparum pfhrp2 and pfhrp3 gene deletions in malariahyperendemic region, South Sudan. Emerg Infect Dis. 2023;29(1):154–9. doi:10.3201/eid2901.220775.
- 33. Bharti PK, Chandel HS, Ahmad A, Krishna S, Udhayakumar V, Singh N. Prevalence of pfhrp2 and/or pfhrp3 gene deletion in Plasmodium falciparum population in eight highly endemic states in India. PLoS One. 2016;11(8):e0157949. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0157949.
- 34. Dorado EJ, Okoth SA, Montenegro LM, Diaz G, Barnwell JW, Udhayakumar V, et al. Genetic characterisation of Plasmodium falciparum isolates with deletion of the pfhrp2 and/or pfhrp3 genes in Colombia: the Amazon region, a challenge for malaria diagnosis and control. PLoS One. 2016;11(9):e0163137. doi:10.1371/journal. pone.0163137.
- 35. Parr JB, Verity R, Doctor SM, Janko M, Carey-Ewend K, Turman BJ, et al. Pfhrp2deleted Plasmodium falciparum parasites in the Democratic Republic of the Congo: a national cross-sectional survey. J Infect Dis. 2017;216(1):36–44. doi:10.1093/infdis/jiw538.
- 36. Akinyi Okoth S, Abdallah JF, Ceron N, Adhin MR, Chandrabose J, Krishnalall K, et al. Variation in Plasmodium falciparum histidine-rich protein 2 (pfhrp2) and Plasmodium falciparum histidine-rich protein 3 (pfhrp3) gene deletions in Guyana and Suriname. PLoS One. 2015;10(5):e0126805. doi:10.1371/journal. pone.0126805.
- 37. Trouvay M, Palazon G, Berger F, Volney B, Blanchet D, Faway E, et al. High performance of histidine-rich protein 2 based rapid diagnostic tests in French Guiana are explained by the absence of pfhrp2 gene deletion in P. falciparum. PLoS One. 2013;8(9):e74269. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0074269.
- 38. Kozycki CT, Umulisa N, Rulisa S, Mwikarago EI, Musabyimana JP, Habimana JP, et al. False-negative malaria rapid diagnostic tests in Rwanda: impact of Plasmodium falciparum isolates lacking hrp2 and declining malaria transmission. Malar J. 2017;16(1):123. doi:10.1186/s12936-017-1768-1.

- 39. Watson OJ, Verity R, Ghani AC, Garske T, Cunningham J, Tshefu A, et al. Impact of seasonal variations in Plasmodium falciparum malaria transmission on the surveillance of pfhrp2 gene deletions. Elife. 2019;8:e40339. doi:10.7554/ eLife.40339.
- 40. Cheng Q, Gatton ML, Barnwell J, Chiodini P, McCarthy J, Bell D, et al. Plasmodium falciparum parasites lacking histidine-rich protein 2 and 3: a review and recommendations for accurate reporting. Malar J. 2014;13:283. doi:10.1186/1475-2875-13-283.
- 41. Beshir KB, Parr JB, Cunningham J, Cheng Q, Rogier E. Screening strategies and laboratory assays to support Plasmodium falciparum histidine-rich protein deletion surveillance: where we are and what is needed. Malar J. 2022;21(1):201. doi:10.1186/s12936-022-04226-2.
- 42. Valdivia HO, Anderson K, Smith D, Pasay C, Salas CJ, Braga G, et al. Spatiotemporal dynamics of Plasmodium falciparum histidine-rich protein 2 and 3 deletions in Peru. Sci Rep. 2022;12(1):19845. doi:10.1038/s41598-022-23881-8.
- 43. Mihreteab S, Anderson K, Pasay C, Smith D, Gatton ML, Cunningham J, et al. Epidemiology of mutant Plasmodium falciparum parasites lacking histidine-rich protein 2/3 genes in Eritrea 2 years after switching from HRP2-based RDTs. Sci Rep. 2021;11(1):21082. doi:10.1038/s41598-021-00714-8.
- 44. Parr JB, Kieto E, Phanzu F, Mansiangi P, Mwandagalirwa K, Mvuama N, et al. Analysis of false-negative rapid diagnostic tests for symptomatic malaria in the Democratic Republic of the Congo. Sci Rep. 2021;11(1):6495. doi:10.1038/s41598-021-85913-z.
- 45. False-negative RDT results and implications of new reports of P. falciparum histidine-rich protein 2/3 gene deletions. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017 (https://iris.who.int/handle/10665/258972).
- 46. Senn N, Rarau P, Manong D, Salib M, Siba P, Robinson LJ, et al. Rapid diagnostic test-based management of malaria: an effectiveness study in Papua New Guinean infants with Plasmodium falciparum and Plasmodium vivax malaria. Clin Infect Dis. 2012;54(5):644–51. doi:10.1093/cid/cir901.
- Baiden F, Webster J, Tivura M, Delimini R, Berko Y, Amenga-Etego S, et al. Accuracy of rapid tests for malaria and treatment outcomes for malaria and non-malaria cases among under-five children in rural Ghana. PLoS One. 2012;7(4):e34073. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0034073.
- Update of the response plan to pfhrp2 gene deletions: meeting report,
 January 2023. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2023 (https://iris.who.int/ handle/10665/378767).
- 49. P. falciparum hrp2/3 gene deletions: conclusions and recommendations of a technical consultation, Geneva, Switzerland, 7–8 July 2016. Background document for Session 7, Malaria Policy Advisory Committee Meeting, 14–16 September 2016, Geneva, Switzerland. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016 (https://www.who.int/publications/m/item/malaria-policy-advisory-committee-to-the-who-sessions-of-the-september-2016-meeting-day-2).
- 50. Surveillance template protocol for pfhrp2/pfhrp3 gene deletions, second edition. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2024 (https://iris.who.int/handle/10665/379471).

- 51. Master protocol for surveillance of pfhrp2/3 deletions and biobanking to support future research, second edition. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2024 (https://iris.who.int/handle/10665/379470).
- 52. Amoah LE, Abuaku B, Bukari AH, Dickson D, Amoako EO, Asumah G, et al. Contribution of P. falciparum parasites with pfhrp2 gene deletions to false negative pfhrp2 based malaria RDT results in Ghana: a nationwide study of symptomatic malaria patients. PLoS One. 2020;15(9):e0238749. doi:10.1371/ journal.pone.0238749.
- 53. Amoah LE, Abankwa J, Oppong A. Plasmodium falciparum histidine rich protein-2 diversity and the implications for pfhrp2 based malaria rapid diagnostic tests in Ghana. Malar J. 2016;15:101. doi:10.1186/s12936-016-1159-z.
- 54. Rogier E, McCaffery JN, Mohamed MA, Herman C, Nace D, Daniels R, et al. Plasmodium falciparum pfhrp2 and pfhrp3 gene deletions and relatedness to other global isolates, Djibouti, 2019–2020. Emerg Infect Dis. 2022;28(10):2043–50. doi:10.3201/eid2810.220695.
- 55. Selecting and procuring malaria RDTs. In: Global Malaria Programme [website]. Geneva; World Health Organization (https://www.who.int/teams/globalmalaria-programme/case-management/diagnosis/rapid-diagnostic-tests/ selection-and-procurement).
- 56. WHO information notice for users 2020/1: malaria and G6PD rapid diagnostic tests manufactured by Access Bio Inc. In: News [website]. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://www.who.int/news/item/13-02-2020-who-information-notice-for-users-2020-1).
- Parasitological confirmation of malaria diagnosis: report of a WHO technical consultation, Geneva, 6–8 October 2009. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2010 (https://iris.who.int/handle/10665/44323).
- Kahama-Maro J, D'Acremont V, Mtasiwa D, Genton B, Lengeler C. Low quality of routine microscopy for malaria at different levels of the health system in Dar es Salaam. Malar J. 2011;10:332. doi:10.1186/1475-2875-10-332.
- 59. Mukadi P, Lejon V, Barbé B, Gillet P, Nyembo C, Lukuka A, et al. Performance of microscopy for the diagnosis of malaria and human African trypanosomiasis by diagnostic laboratories in the Democratic Republic of the Congo: results of a nation-wide external quality assessment. PLoS One. 2016;11(1):e0146450. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0146450.
- 60. Stow NW, Torrens JK, Walker J. An assessment of the accuracy of clinical diagnosis, local microscopy and a rapid immunochromatographic card test in comparison with expert microscopy in the diagnosis of malaria in rural Kenya. Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg. 1999;93(5):519–20. doi:10.1016/s0035-9203(99)90359-0.
- 61. McKenzie FE, Sirichaisinthop J, Miller RS, Gasser RA, Wongsrichanalai C. Dependence of malaria detection and species diagnosis by microscopy on parasite density. Am J Trop Med Hyg. 2003;69(4):372–6. doi:10.4269/ajtmh.2003.69.372.
- 62. Gillet P, Scheirlinck A, Stokx J, De Weggheleire A, Chauque HS, Canhanga ODJV, et al. Prozone in malaria rapid diagnostics tests: how many cases are missed? Malar J. 2011;10:166. doi:10.1186/14752875-10-166.

- 63. Lot testing: pre and post-purchase. In: Global Malaria Programme [website]. Geneva: World Health Organization (https://www.who.int/teams/globalmalaria-programme/case-management/diagnosis/rapid-diagnostic-tests/lottesting).
- 64. Nsobya SL, Walakira A, Namirembe E, Kiggundu M, Nankabirwa JI, Ruhamyankaka E, et al. Deletions of pfhrp2 and pfhrp3 genes were uncommon in rapid diagnostic test-negative Plasmodium falciparum isolates from Uganda. Malar J. 2021;20(1):4. doi:10.1186/s12936-020-03547-4.
- 65. Bosco AB, Nankabirwa JI, Yeka A, Nsobya S, Gresty K, Anderson K, et al. Limitations of rapid diagnostic tests in malaria surveys in areas with varied transmission intensity in Uganda 2017–2019: implications for selection and use of HRP2 RDTs. PLoS One. 2020;15(12):e0244457. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0244457.
- Alemayehu S, Feghali KC, Cowden J, Komisar J, Ockenhouse CF, Kamau E. Comparative evaluation of published real-time PCR assays for the detection of malaria following MIQE guidelines. Malar J. 2013;12:277. doi:10.1186/1475-2875-12-277.
- 67. Nucleic acid amplification-based diagnostics. In: Global Malaria Programme [website]. Geneva: World Health Organization (https://www.who.int/teams/ global-malaria-programme/case-management/diagnosis/nucleic-acidamplification-based-diagnostics).
- 68. Frequently asked questions on the WHO external quality assurance scheme for malaria nucleic acid amplification testing (NAAT EQA). In: Global Malaria Programme [website]. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2023 (https://www. who.int/teams/global-malaria-programme/case-management/diagnosis/ nucleic-acid-amplification-based-diagnostics/faq-nucleic-acid-amplificationtests).
- 69. Sullivan DJ, Gluzman IY, Goldberg DE. Plasmodium hemozoin formation mediated by histidine-rich proteins. Science. 1996;271(5246):219–22. doi:10.1126/ science.271.5246.219.
- 70. Pal P, Balaban AE, Diamond MS, Sinnis P, Klein RS, Goldberg DE. Plasmodium falciparum histidine-rich protein II causes vascular leakage and exacerbates experimental cerebral malaria in mice. PLoS One. 2017;12(5):e0177142. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0177142.
- 71. Harbuzariu A, Nti A, Harp KO, Cespedes JC, Driss A, Stiles JK. Neuregulin-1/ErbB4 signaling modulates Plasmodium falciparum HRP2-induced damage to brain cortical organoids. iScience. 2022;25(6):104407. doi:10.1016/j.isci.2022.104407.
- 72. Wellems TE, Howard RJ. Homologous genes encode two distinct histidine-rich proteins in a cloned isolate of Plasmodium falciparum. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1986;83(16):6065–9. doi:10.1073/pnas.83.16.6065.
- Stahl HD, Kemp DJ, Crewther PE, Scanlon DB, Woodrow G, Brown GV, et al. Sequence of a cDNA encoding a small polymorphic histidine- and alanine-rich protein from Plasmodium falciparum. Nucleic Acids Res. 1985;13(21):7837–46. doi:10.1093/nar/13.21.7837.
- 74. Kumar N, Singh JP, Pande V, Mishra N, Srivastava B, Kapoor R, et al. Genetic variation in histidine rich proteins among Indian Plasmodium falciparum population: possible cause of variable sensitivity of malaria rapid diagnostic tests. Malar J. 2012;11:298. doi:10.1186/1475-2875-11-298.

- Dharia NV, Plouffe D, Bopp SER, Gonzalez-Paez GE, Lucas C, Salas C, et al. Genome scanning of Amazonian Plasmodium falciparum shows subtelomeric instability and clindamycin-resistant parasites. Genome Res. 2010;20(11):1534– 1544. doi:10.1101/gr.105163.110.
- Kemp DJ, Thompson JK, Walliker D, Corcoran LM. Molecular karyotype of Plasmodium falciparum: conserved linkage groups and expendable histidinerich protein genes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1987;84(21):7672–6. doi:10.1073/ pnas.84.21.7672.
- 77. Hathaway NJ, Kim Jr IE, Wernsman Young N, Hui ST, Crudale R, Liang EY, et al. Interchromosomal segmental duplication drives translocation and loss of P. falciparum histidine-rich protein 3. Elife (in press). doi:10.7554/eLife.93534.1.
- 78. Watson OJ, Slater HC, Verity R, Parr JB, Mwandagalirwa MK, Tshefu A, et al. Modelling the drivers of the spread of Plasmodium falciparum hrp2 gene deletions in sub-Saharan Africa. Elife. 2017;6:e25008. doi:10.7554/eLife.25008.
- 79. Gatton ML, Dunn J, Chaudhry A, Ciketic S, Cunningham J, Cheng Q. Implications of parasites lacking Plasmodium falciparum histidine-rich protein 2 on malaria morbidity and control when rapid diagnostic tests are used for diagnosis. J Infect Dis. 2017;215(7):1156–66. doi:10.1093/infdis/jix094.
- 80. Fola AA, Feleke SM, Mohammed H, Brhane BG, Hennelly CM, Assefa A, et al. Plasmodium falciparum resistant to artemisinin and diagnostics have emerged in Ethiopia. Nat Microbiol. 2023;8(10):1911–9. doi:10.1038/s41564-023-01461-4.
- 81. Beshir KB, Sepúlveda N, Bharmal J, Robinson A, Mwanguzi J, Busula AO, et al. Plasmodium falciparum parasites with histidine-rich protein 2 (pfhrp2) and pfhrp3 gene deletions in two endemic regions of Kenya. Sci Rep. 2017;7(1):14718. doi:10.1038/s41598-017-15031-2.
- Wellems TE, Walliker D, Smith CL, do Rosario VE, Maloy WL, Howard RJ, et al. A histidine-rich protein gene marks a linkage group favored strongly in a genetic cross of Plasmodium falciparum. Cell. 1987;49(5):633–42. doi:10.1016/0092-8674(87)90539-3.
- 83. Nair S, Li X, Nkhoma SC, Anderson T. Fitness costs of pfhrp2 and pfhrp3 deletions underlying diagnostic evasion in malaria parasites. J Infect Dis. 2022;226(9):1637–45. doi:10.1093/infdis/jiac240.
- 84. Mihreteab S, Anderson K, Molina-de la Fuente I, Sutherland CJ, Smith D, Cunningham J, et al. The spread of a validated molecular marker of artemisinin partial resistance pfkelch13 R622I and association with pfhrp2/3 deletions in Eritrea. medRxiv. 2023. doi:10.1101/2023.10.20.23297302.
- 85. Grignard L, Nolder D, Sepúlveda N, Berhane A, Mihreteab S, Kaaya R, et al. A novel multiplex qPCR assay for detection of Plasmodium falciparum with histidine-rich protein 2 and 3 (pfhrp2 and pfhrp3) deletions in polyclonal infections. EbioMedicine. 2020;55:102757. doi:10.1016/j.ebiom.2020.102757.
- 86. Schindler T, Deal AC, Fink M, Guirou E, Moser KA, Mwakasungula SM, et al. A multiplex qPCR approach for detection of pfhrp2 and pfhrp3 gene deletions in multiple strain infections of Plasmodium falciparum. Sci Rep. 2019;9(1):13107. doi:10.1038/s41598-019-49389-2.

- 87. Kreidenweiss A, Trauner F, Rodi M, Koehne E, Held J, Wyndorps L, et al. Monitoring the threatened utility of malaria rapid diagnostic tests by novel high-throughput detection of Plasmodium falciparum hrp2 and hrp3 deletions: a cross-sectional, diagnostic accuracy study. EbioMedicine. 2019;50:14–22. doi:10.1016/j. ebiom.2019.10.048.
- 88. Vera-Arias CA, Holzschuh A, Oduma CO, Badu K, Abdul-Hakim M, Yukich J, et al. High-throughput Plasmodium falciparum hrp2 and hrp3 gene deletion typing by digital PCR to monitor malaria rapid diagnostic test efficacy. Elife. 2022;11:e72083. doi:10.7554/eLife.72083.
- 89. Nolder D, Stewart L, Tucker J, Ibrahim A, Gray A, Corrah T, et al. Failure of rapid diagnostic tests in Plasmodium falciparum malaria cases among travelers to the UK and Ireland: identification and characterisation of the parasites. Int J Infect Dis. 2021;108:137–44. doi:10.1016/j.ijid.2021.05.008.
- Runtuwene LR, Tuda JSB, Mongan AE, Makalowski W, Frith MC, Imwong M, et al. Nanopore sequencing of drug-resistance-associated genes in malaria parasites, Plasmodium falciparum. Sci Rep. 2018;8(1):8286. doi:10.1038/s41598-018-26334-3.
- de Cesare M, Mwenda M, Jeffreys AE, Chirwa J, Drakeley C, Schneider K, et al. Flexible and cost-effective genomic surveillance of P. falciparum malaria with targeted nanopore sequencing. Nat Commun. 2024;15(1):1413. doi:10.1038/s41467-024-45688-z.
- 92. Sabin S, Jones S, Patel D, Subramaniam G, Kelley J, Aidoo M, et al. Portable and cost-effective genetic detection and characterization of Plasmodium falciparum hrp2 using the MinION sequencer. Sci Rep. 2023;13(1):2893. doi:10.1038/s41598-022-26935-z.
- 93. Plucinski M, Aidoo M, Rogier E. Laboratory detection of malaria antigens: a strong tool for malaria research, diagnosis, and epidemiology. Clin Microbiol Rev. 2021;34(3):e0025020. doi:10.1128/CMR.00250-20.
- 94. Rogier E, Plucinski M, Lucchi N, Mace K, Chang M, Lemoine JF, et al. Bead-based immunoassay allows sub-picogram detection of histidine-rich protein 2 from Plasmodium falciparum and estimates reliability of malaria rapid diagnostic tests. PLoS One. 2017;12(2):e0172139. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0172139.
- 95. Cunningham JA, Thomson RM, Murphy SC, de la Paz Ade M, Ding XC, Incardona S, et al. WHO malaria nucleic acid amplification test external quality assessment scheme: results of distribution programmes one to three. Malar J. 2020;19(1):129. doi:10.1186/s12936-020-03200-0.
- Ling IT, Cooksley S, Bates PA, Hempelmann E, Wilson RJ. Antibodies to the glutamate dehydrogenase of Plasmodium falciparum. Parasitology. 1986;92(Pt 2):313–24. doi:10.1017/s0031182000064088.
- 97. Li Y, Ning YS, Li L, Peng DD, Dong WQ, Li M. [Preparation of a monoclonal antibodies against Plasmodium falciparum glutamate dehydrogenase and establishment of colloidal gold-immunochromatographic assay]. Di Yi Jun Yi Da Xue Xue Bao. 2005;25(4):435–8 (in Chinese).

- 98. Kilejian A, Sharma YD, Karoui H, Naslund L. Histidine-rich domain of the knob protein of the human malaria parasite Plasmodium falciparum. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1986;83(20):7938–41. doi:10.1073/pnas.83.20.7938.
- 99. Howard RJ, Uni S, Aikawa M, Aley SB, Leech JH, Lew AM, et al. Secretion of a malarial histidine-rich protein (Pf HRP II) from Plasmodium falciparum-infected erythrocytes. J Cell Biol. 1986;103(4):1269–77. doi:10.1083/jcb.103.4.1269.
- Parra ME, Evans CB, Taylor DW. Identification of Plasmodium falciparum histidine-rich protein 2 in the plasma of humans with malaria. J Clin Microbiol. 1991;29(8):1629–34. doi:10.1128/jcm.29.8.1629-1634.1991.
- Shiff CJ, Premji Z, Minjas JN. The rapid manual ParaSight-F test: a new diagnostic tool for Plasmodium falciparum infection. Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg. 1993;87(6):646–8. doi:10.1016/0035-9203(93)90273-s.
- 102. Piper R, Lebras J, Wentworth L, Hunt-Cooke A, Houzé S, Chiodini P, et al. Immunocapture diagnostic assays for malaria using Plasmodium lactate dehydrogenase (pLDH). Am J Trop Med Hyg. 1999;60(1):109–18. doi:10.4269/ ajtmh.1999.60.109.
- 103. Kattenberg JH, Versteeg I, Migchelsen SJ, Gonzalez IJ, Perkins MD, Mens PF, et al. New developments in malaria diagnostics: monoclonal antibodies against Plasmodium dihydrofolate reductase-thymidylate synthase, heme detoxification protein and glutamate rich protein. Mabs. 2012;4(1):120–6. doi:10.4161/mabs.4.1.18529.
- Krause RGE, Hurdayal R, Choveaux D, Przyborski JM, Coetzer THT, Goldring JPD. Plasmodium glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase: a potential malaria diagnostic target. Exp Parasitol. 2017;179:7–19. doi:10.1016/j.exppara.2017.05.007.
- 105. Foth BJ, Zhang N, Chaal BK, Sze SK, Preiser PR, Bozdech Z. Quantitative timecourse profiling of parasite and host cell proteins in the human malaria parasite Plasmodium falciparum. Mol Cell Proteomics. 2011;10(8):M110.006411. doi:10.1074/ mcp.M110.006411.
- 106. Tao D, McGill B, Hamerly T, Kobayashi T, Khare P, Dziedzic A, et al. A salivabased rapid test to quantify the infectious subclinical malaria parasite reservoir. Sci Transl Med. 2019;11(473):eaan4479. doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.aan4479.
- 107. Kumar R, Verma AK, Shrivas S, Thota P, Singh MP, Rajasubramaniam S, et al. First successful field evaluation of new, one-minute haemozoin-based malaria diagnostic device. EclinicalMedicine. 2020;22:100347. doi:10.1016/j. eclinm.2020.100347.
- 108. Fantin RF, Abeijon C, Pereira DB, Fujiwara RT, Bueno LL, Campos-Neto A. Proteomic analysis of urine from patients with Plasmodium vivax malaria unravels a unique Plasmodium vivax protein that is absent from Plasmodium falciparum. Trop Med Infect Dis. 2022;7(10):314. doi:10.3390/tropicalmed7100314.
- 109. World malaria report 2022. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2022 (https:// iris.who.int/handle/10665/365169, accessed 1 June 2024).
- 110. Watson OJ, Tran TNA, Zupko RJ, Symons T, Thomson R, Visser T, et al. Global risk of selection and spread of Plasmodium falciparum histidine-rich protein 2 and 3 gene deletions. medRxiv. 2024. doi:10.1101/2023.10.21.23297352.

- 111. Pf infection prevalence (per 100 children): Malaria Atlas Project [online database]. Nedlands: Telethon Kids Institute (https://data.malariaatlas.org/ trends?year=2020&metricGroup=Malaria&geographicLevel=admin0&metric Subcategory=Pf&metricType=rate&metricName=PR, accessed 24 June 2023).
- 112. Commodities: case management: Malaria Atlas Project [online database]. Nedlands: Telethon Kids Institute (https://data.malariaatlas.org/casemanagement, accessed 24 June 2023).
- 113. Shelus V, Mumbere N, Masereka A, Masika B, Kiitha J, Nyangoma G, et al. "Testing for malaria does not cure any pain": a qualitative study exploring low use of malaria rapid diagnostic tests at drug shops in rural Uganda. PLoS Glob Public Health. 2022;2(12):e0001235. doi:10.1371/journal.pgph.0001235.
- 114. Agaba BB, Anderson K, Gresty K, Prosser C, Smith D, Nankabirwa JI, et al. Molecular surveillance reveals the presence of pfhrp2 and pfhrp3 gene deletions in Plasmodium falciparum parasite populations in Uganda, 2017–2019. Malar J. 2020;19(1):300. doi:10.1186/s12936-020-03362-x.
- 115. Methods for the 2023 short-term malaria commodities forecast: artemisininbased combination therapies (ACTs) and rapid diagnostic tests (RDTs). Boston: Clinton Health Access Initiative; 2023 (https://clintonhealth.app.box.com/s/ h3p3l5jhdw5yg0yibh761g6gqixazthg).
- 116. The state of the malaria RDT market 2018. Geneva: Unitaid; 2018 (https://unitaid. org/assets/The-state-of-the-malaria-RDT-market-2018.pdf).

For further information please contact:

Global Malaria Programme World Health Organization

20 avenue Appia 1211 Geneva 27 Switzerland Email: G<u>MPinfo@who.int</u>

